
Page 1 

 

 
 

AGENDA  
 
 
Meeting: Health Select Committee 

Place: The Kennet Room - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Wednesday 11 July 2018 

Time: 10.30 am  

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Roger Bishton, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line (01225) 713035 or email 
roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 

Cllr Chuck Berry 
Cllr Clare Cape 
Cllr Christine Crisp 
Cllr Mary Champion 
Cllr Gavin Grant 
Cllr Howard Greenman 

Cllr Mollie Groom 
Cllr Deborah Halik 
Cllr Gordon King  
Cllr Andy Phillips 
Cllr Pip Ridout 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland 
Cllr Graham Wright 

 

 
Substitutes: 

Cllr Pat Aves 
Cllr Trevor Carbin 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Anna Cuthbert 
Cllr Peter Fuller 
Cllr Russell Hawker 

Cllr George Jeans 
Cllr David Jenkins 
Cllr Nick Murry 
Cllr Steve Oldrieve 
Cllr Tom Rounds 

 

 
Stakeholders: 
 (to be confirmed)   Healthwatch Wiltshire 
 Diane Gooch    Wiltshire & Swindon Users Network (WSUN) 
 Irene Kohler    SWAN Advocacy 
 

 
 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2 

 

RECORDING AND BROADCASTING NOTIFICATION 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv  At the start of the meeting, the 
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council. 
 
By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 
 

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public. 
  
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities. 
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on the Council’s website along with this agenda and available on request. 

If you have any queries please contact Democratic Services using the contact details 
above. 

 

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/


Page 3 

 

 Pre-meeting information briefing 
 
The meeting will be preceded by a presentation starting at 9.30am, in the 
meeting room. 
 
Topic: User Engagement with Adult Care – new contracts 
 
Representatives from Help and Care will attend to inform the committee of their 
organisation and their plans to deliver the Healthwatch Wiltshire contract 
(9.30am). 
 
Representatives from Wiltshire Centre for Independent Living will attend to 
inform the committee of their organisation and their plans to deliver the Service 
User Engagement contract for Wiltshire Council (10am). 
 
All members and substitutes of the Health Select Committee are welcome 

to attend. 
 
 

 PART I 

 Items to be considered whilst the meeting is open to the public 

 

1   Election of Chairman 2018/19  

 To elect a chairman for the forthcoming year. 

 

2   Election of Vice-Chairman 2018/19  

 To elect a Vice-Chairman for the forthcoming year. 

 

3   Apologies and Membership Changes  

 To note any changes of membership to the Committee.  
 
To receive details of any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

 

4   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 9 - 18) 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 24 April 2018. 

 

5   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 



Page 4 

 

6   Chairman's Announcements  

 To note any announcements through the Chairman, including: 
 

a. Green paper on care and support for older people 
 

b. Adult Care Charging Policy update 
 

7  Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
If you would like to make a statement at this meeting on any item on this 
agenda, please register to do so at least 10 minutes prior to the meeting. Up to 
3 speakers are permitted to speak for up to 3 minutes each on any agenda item. 
Please contact the officer named on the front of the agenda for any further 
clarification. 
 
Questions  
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the 
Council received in accordance with the constitution. 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on Wednesday 4 July 2018 in order to be guaranteed of a written 
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no 
later than 5pm on Friday 6 July 2018. Please contact the officer named on the 
front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without notice if 
the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 

8   Cabinet Items  

 Cabinet - 24 April 2018 (the same day as the last Health Select Committee) 
 

 Sexual Health and Blood Borne Virus Strategy 2017-2020  
 

To request that updates on implementation of the strategy be made to 
the Health & Wellbeing Board and the Health Select Committee as 
appropriate. 

 

 Learning Disabilities In-house Respite Services 
 

To approve the closure of 70 Derriads Lane Residential Respite Unit. 
 
 

http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=11896&Ver=4


Page 5 

 

Cabinet – 15 May 2018 
 

 Exemption Request – Extra Care Housing and Housing Related 
Support 

 
To award the following contracts, under an exemption, to the incumbent 
providers, Mears Care, Somerset Care at Home, Salisbury City 
Almshouse, Knightstone, Habinteg Housing, Stonewater Housing: 

 
o Extra Care Housing: care and support contracts for 4 existing ECH 

schemes 
 
o Housing Related Support: 8 contracts for sheltered housing schemes 

across Wiltshire (covered by the Help to Live at Home (HTLAH) 
providers) 

 
o Housing Related Support: 4 additional schemes with individual 

agreements (outside of HTLAH) 
 
Cabinet – 3 July 2018 
 

 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.  
 
To be considered by Health Select Committee on 11 July 2018. 

 

 Proposed Changes to the Senior Management Structure.  
 
The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to take steps to 
make changes to the senior management structure of the council at tier 1 
following the decision to reconsider the appointment of the fourth 
Corporate Director role, which was to be a joint post with Wiltshire CCG, 
and following discussion with the current Corporate Directors. 

 

9   Relocation of Head and Neck Cancer Rehabilitation Services from Oxford 
to Swindon  

 To receive information on the background and progress on the relocation of 
Head and Neck Cancer Rehabilitation Services from Oxford to Swindon. 

 

10   Integrated urgent care mobilisation programme - update  

 To receive an update on the integrated urgent care mobilisation programme. 

 

11   Maternity Transformation Plan  

 To receive an update on the Maternity Transformation Plan. 

 

http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=11667&Ver=4
http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=11668&Ver=4


Page 6 

 

12   AWP Transformation Programme - update  

 On 6 March 2018 (full agenda and minutes here), the Health Select Committee 
considered the Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) 
transformation programme. 
 
The committee supported the transformation programme as it was presented on 
6 March 2018 and welcomed an update on implementation at its 11 July 2018 
meeting, as well as a statement that could be used to inform town and parish 
councils of the AWP transformation programme (to follow). 

 

13   Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report (Ref 16 015 946) 
(Pages 19 - 44) 

 The Ombudsman published a report on 27 April 2018 finding maladministration 
against the Council that caused injustice to the complainant. 
 
It was agreed that following consideration by Cabinet, the report would be 
referred to Overview & Scrutiny and the Standards Committee. 
 
Between publication of this agenda and the actual meeting of the Health Select 
Committee, the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report (Ref 16 
015 946) will have been considered by Cabinet on 3 July 2018. 
 

14  CQC review (Pages 45 - 104) 

 On 14 June 2018 the CQC published its review of how local health and social 
care systems work together in Wiltshire. Further details can be accessed on the 
CQC website. 
 
This report is one of 20 targeted local system reviews looking specifically at how 
older people move through the health and social care system, with a focus on 
how services work together. The reviews looked at how hospitals, community 
health services, GP practices, care homes and homecare agencies work 
together to provide seamless care for people aged 65 and over living in a local 
area. 
 
The full CQC report can be accessed here and has also been included with this 
agenda for ease of reference. 
 
The Health Select Committee will also consider a report (to follow) on the CQC 
review prior to its consideration by the Health and Wellbeing on 12 July 2018.  

 

15   Rapid scrutiny report - NHS Health Checks  

 The Rapid Scrutiny exercise on NHS Health Checks took place on 26 June 
2018 the outcome report will be circulated as soon as possible (to follow). 

 

https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1123&MId=10890&Ver=4
http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=11668&Ver=4
https://www.cqc.org.uk/news/releases/wiltshire-cqc-publishes-its-review-how-local-health-social-care-systems-work-together
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20180611_local_system_review_wiltshire.pdf


Page 7 

 

16   Non-elected representation on Committee (Pages 105 - 112) 

 The award of the Service User Engagement and Healthwatch Wiltshire 
contracts to, respectively, Wiltshire Centre for Independent Living and Help and 
Care have created an opportunity to review the current non-elected 
representation on the Health Select Committee to ensure that all relevant 
organisations are represented. 

 

17   Task Group and Programme Boards Representatives Updates (Pages 113 - 
114) 

 To receive any updates on recent activity for active task groups and from 
members of the Health Select Committee who have been appointed as 
overview and scrutiny representatives on programme boards. 

 

18   Forward Work Programme (Pages 115 - 120) 

 The Committee is invited to consider the way in which it wishes to carry out 
scrutiny of sustainability and transformation plan / partnership (STPs) for 
Wiltshire. 
 
Information will also be provided to the committee to enable it to determine how 
it wishes to carry out scrutiny of the Community Area Health & Wellbeing 
Groups.  
 
The Committee is asked to consider the work programme, taking into account 
its decision with regards to scrutiny of STPs and Community Area Health & 
Wellbeing Groups. 

 

19   Urgent Items  

 To consider any other items of business that the Chairman agrees to consider 
as a matter of urgency. 

 

20   Date of Next Meeting  

 To confirm the date of the next meeting as 11 September 2018 at 10.30am. 

 PART II 

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public 
should be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information 

would be disclosed 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES OF THE HEALTH SELECT COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 
24 APRIL 2018 AT KENNET COMMITTEE ROOM, COUNTY HALL, 
TROWBRIDGE. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Christine Crisp (Chairman), Cllr Gordon King (Vice-Chairman), Cllr Chuck Berry, 
Cllr Clare Cape, Cllr Mary Champion, Cllr Gavin Grant, Cllr Howard Greenman, 
Cllr Mollie Groom, Cllr Deborah Halik, Cllr Andy Phillips, Cllr Pip Ridout, 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland, Diane Gooch and Irene Kohler 
 
Also  Present: 
 
Cllr Ben Anderson and Cllr Jerry Wickham. 
 
  

 
30 Apologies 

 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Graham Wright. 
 

31 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve and sign the minutes of the previous meeting of this Select 
Committee held on 6 March 2018. 
 

32 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 
 

33 Chairman's Announcements 
 
The Chairman made the following announcements:- 
 

1.  SWAST - 2017/18 Quality Report 
 
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust would 
welcome the Committee’s comments on its 2017/18 Quality 
Report. This was due to be circulated on 16 April but had been 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

slightly delayed. The Quality Report had now been received and 
wouldl be circulated to members of this Committee for comments 
to be sent back to the Senior Scrutiny Officer. 
 
Cllr Gavin Grant was reassured that his request for the additional 
information following the September meeting had not been 
forgotten; a reminder had been sent and a response from Paul 
Birkett-Wendes was awaited. 

2.   Adult Care Charging Policy update 
 
At the 9 January 2018 meeting the Committee resolved to receive 
confirmation, possibly via an announcement after 31 March 2018, 
that all re-assessments had been undertaken. The following 
update had now been received:  
 
Until recently, the Financial Assessments and Benefits Team had 
been on schedule to complete all re-assessments by the end of 
March 2018.  All service users had been contacted about the 
reassessment process and to offer a date for an appointment.    
 
Many of the remaining cases were more complex and, 
unfortunately, more recently, a number of service users had not 
been at home at the time of their appointments or had called to 
rearrange (for example because a family member was no longer 
available to support them).  Some appointments had needed to 
be rescheduled several times.  This meant that by the end of 
March there were a number (around 80) reassessments still 
outstanding.  Most of these had now been rescheduled and it was 
expected that all would be complete by the end of May 2018. 

3.   Corporate Peer Challenge 

  The feedback report received from the Local Government 
Association following the Corporate Peer Challenge that took 
place in November 2017; and the draft action plan which had 
been developed to reflect the feedback and recommendations 
made had been considered by Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee on 20 March and Cabinet on 27 March.  
 
 

4.   Integrated Community Equipment and Support Services - 
Recommissioning 

 
 
 

 Cabinet on 27 March 2018 resolved to: 
 
a) To agree to the opportunities being explored for a joint 

Page 10

http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1122&MId=10896&Ver=4
http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1122&MId=10896&Ver=4
http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=11304&Ver=4
http://moderngov.wiltshire.council/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=141&MId=11304&Ver=4


 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. 

commissioning exercise between BaNES, Swindon and Wiltshire 
STP, of integrated community equipment and support services. 
 
b)    To authorise an exemption to Wiltshire Council’s Integrated 
Community Equipment and Support Services to enable up to a 
further 18 months extension of the Medequip contract, that will be 
applied in a 12 months period, plus the option for a further 6 
months. 
 
The committee would be kept informed of progress on this. 
 
NHS Health Checks Rapid Scrutiny  
 
An opportunity to take part in this Rapid Scrutiny exercise on 
Tuesday 26 June 2018 at County Hall, with a briefing at 9.00am 
and the meeting starting at 10.00am (until 12noon) had been 
advertised in the previous week’s Elected Wire. Any Member 
wishing to take part or have any questions were requested to 
contact Marie Gondlach, Senior Scrutiny Officer. 
 
Places of Safety  
 
The CCG had provided the following update. 
 
Since the last Health Select Committee meeting the issues raised 
by the then Interim Director of Adult Social Services and Public 
Health regarding the Place of Safety and Section 136 
assessments for Swindon patients in Wiltshire had been 
satisfactorily resolved, with a workable solution reached between 
Swindon CCG and Wiltshire Council. 
 
User engagement with Adult Care 
 
The Committee had been informed at tits January meeting of 
Cabinet’s review of its commissioning of the statutory 
HealthWatch function and the delivery the non-statutory functions 
with regards to user engagement with Adult Care. The Committee 
was also given a tender process update at the March meeting. 
 
Wiltshire Council had now awarded the supplier contracts as follows: 
 
Help and Care had secured the contract for the Healthwatch 
Wiltshire tender. Help and Care already had Healthwatch 
contracts across the south 
 
Wiltshire Centre for Independent Living (WiltsCIL) had secured 
the contract for the Service User Engagement service. It was 

Page 11



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

already an established provider in Wiltshire, delivering support 
services to adult social care customers over the past eight years. 
 
Both contracts were awarded for three years to run from 1 June 
2018 with an option to extend for a further two years. 
 
 

 
34 Public Participation 

 
There were no members of the public present or councillors’ questions. 
 

35 Wiltshire Safeguarding Adult Board - update 
 
Consideration was given to a report by the Chairman of the Wiltshire 
Safeguarding Adults Board which updated the Committee on:- 
 

 Two Safeguarding Adults Reviews the Board had undertaken. 

 How the learning from those reviews would help more effectively. 

 The Board’s Business Plan for 2018-2019. 
 
The Board Chairman explained in some detail the process that had taken place 
in carrying out the two anonymised Safeguarding Reviews and stressed that 
much had been learnt from the process and some changes had already been 
implemented. Further changes would be introduced and he would update the 
Committee in due course.  It was important to note that the reviews did not seek 
to apportion individual blame for shortcomings but that all involved sought to 
work together to determine how improvements and further safeguards could be 
brought about.   
 
During discussion, it was acknowledged that there was a need to ensure that 
before a patient was discharged from care, there was a need to ensure that the 
person was being discharged to a safe environment and that any appropriate 
care required was available, including in that individual’s own home. There was 
generally more emphasis on keeping vulnerable people in the community as 
much as possible but at the same time due attention needed to be given to 
potential risks.     
 
Members were pleased to note the development of an adult Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH). However, it was pointed out that the implementation 
of a MASH in itself would not help agencies to improve outcomes but with 
adequate resources and successful planning there would be potential for this 
new operation arrangement to help: 
 

 Provide effective, consistent, multi-agency safeguarding arrangements. 

 Increase understanding and application of the Mental Capacity Act. 

 To more effectively assess risk. 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 To identify emerging concerns.  
 
The Committee sought reassurance that advocacy was always considered 
when appropriate as it appeared not to have been used in one of the cases. 
The Chairman of the Board offered to look into this and report back. 
 
After further discussion during which Members examined the Board’s Business 
Plan.    
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) To thank the Chairman of the Wiltshire Safeguarding Adult Board 

for presenting his report and answering the Committee’s questions. 
 
(2) To welcome the Chairman’s offer to circulate, for the Committee, 

the outcome of the Board’s discussion regarding the data charts 
included in the report. 

 
(3) To invite the Chairman of the Board to update the Committee on the 

outcome of the safeguarding adults reviews mentioned at this 
meeting, including the offer of advocacy.  
 

(4) To receive the Board’s next three-year strategy in 2019.  
 

36 Maternity Transformation Plan 
 
The Committee received the following update which had been provided by the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) regarding the Maternity Transformation 
Plan. 
 
“The CCG has received positive feedback from NHS England on its maternity 
transformation plan.  
 
The CCG’s dedicated project midwife has commenced in post and they are 
moving to mobilisation phase.  
 
The dads pad app will be launched in May and work has commenced on 
developing the maternity app – they had offers of help with the Dads Pad app 
from interested grandparent members on this committee, so watch this space! 
 
In terms of talking to the public about findings and options, they have extended 
the timeframes for public consultation to ensure they have appropriate time.  
 
This means the CCG will be seeking the public view on options from September 
through to December this year.  They will come back to the committee to share 
the options and all supporting evidence, including next steps when available, 
and will make sure committee members remain fully briefed.” 
 

Page 13



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Resolved:  
 
To note the contents of the update provided and to welcome further 
updates at key stages of the project. 
 

37 Extra Care Housing and Housing Related Support 
 
The Committee received a short verbal update on extra care housing and 
housing related support prior to consideration by Cabinet on 15 May 2018.  It 
was noted that there was still some work to be completed in relation to Extra 
Care Housing and Housing Related Support before the Council could consider 
tendering for a new provider, which included:- 
 

 Customer consultation in relation to the type and level of services they 
would like to be provided at these schemes. 

 

 Review of care and funding models to ensure that the schemes provided 
a service which was appropriate and affordable for both the customer 
and the Council. 
 

 Develop a specification for each service and commissioning intentions 
for delivering the service. 
 

It was noted that this work was likely to take 12 to 18 months to complete and 
that contracts would need to be awarded to ensure that current arrangements 
were maintained in the intervening period. 
 
The Chairman suggested that a task group with a limited number of meetings, 
or a Rapid Scrutiny Exercise, might be useful to consider the key points of the 
review, alternatively an overview & scrutiny Member could be appointed as a 
representative on the relevant board.  Furthermore, she enquired as to whether 
the review also included Sheltered Housing.  
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the update and that consultation would take place with the  
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Public Health & Public Protection 
and appropriate officers to agree the best format of scrutiny involvement 
with the review. 
    
 

38 Better Care Plan 
 
Consideration was given to an update report from the Portfolio Delivery 
Manager – Integration, Wiltshire Council and Clinical Commissioning Group on 
the Better Care Funding Programme, which included an update on the Section 
75 agreement for 2018/19. This had been presented to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on 29 March 2018. 

Page 14



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
It was pointed out that:- 
 

 Overall non-elective admissions for Wiltshire were around 10.7% higher 
than last year, but this was driven in the main by changes in coding at a 
couple of trusts and some transfer of responsibility from Specialised to 
CCG Commissioning, without these changes the increase would be 
around 4.8%. Avoidable emergency admissions were down 1% and 
admissions from non-LD (Learning Disability) care homes were down 
nearly 3% on the same period last. 
 

 New permanent admissions to care homes remained at historically low 
levels due in part to availability of care homes. 
 

 The percentage of people at home 91 days post hospital discharge 
had reduced, data quality issues were causing issues with regards to 
the production of accurate performance information which was being 
managed to ensure reliable information for 2018-19. 
 

 The number of Delayed Transfers of Care days continued to fall and 
performance was improving on that seen earlier in the year, however our 
position remained above the planned trajectory. 
 

 Urgent care at home continued to see more referrals, with 72 in 
January, which was close to the target of 80 people, however the % of 
admissions avoided was lower at 75% 
 

 Help to live at home activity increased in January for new cases, the 
total was 47 compared to 28 in December 

 

 Urgent Care at home activity had increased 36% on the same period 
last year which aligned to the delayed days that had reported 6.4% 
lower than the same period last year, but remained well above trajectory 
for October 2017. This was a positive move as the Better Care Fund 
workstreams embedded; however further work was required to enable 
the system to be sustainable in 2018 and into 2019. 
 

 Intermediate Care Bed admissions were at a level broadly similar to the 
same period last year but discharges were 2% higher. Domiciliary Care 
activity for new clients was 4.5% higher than the same period last year 
and ongoing support was 7.2% higher suggesting the new models of 
care to support Home First was starting to change the system model 
from residential to normal residential of choice. 
 

During discussion, Members enquired as to how reliable was the data 
information provided for 2017/18; it was explained that the figures for 2015/16 
were somewhat overstated but new systems were now in place which resulted 

Page 15



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

in the provision of more accurate data and also the easier and more efficient 
discharge of patients from hospital with a new recording system. 
 
The Committee was reminded that the Better Care Plan Task Group had 
previously recommended to this Committee at its meeting on 10 January 2018 
that the monitoring of the Better Care Plan be monitored, as a topic for scrutiny,   
against the following five national performance areas:- 
 

 Admissions to residential and nursing care. 

 Success of reablement and rehabilitation. 

 Delayed transfers of care. 

 Avoidable emergency admissions. 

 Patient and service user experience. 
 
After further discussion,  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) To note the contents of the update report. 
 
(2) To request an update from officers on the Better Care Plan Task 

Group’s recommendations, including confirmation that “User 
experience” was being monitored. 

     
 

39 Delayed Discharges 
 
The Committee received a summary of DTOC (Delayed Transfer of Care) 
delayed days for January 2018 which showed:- 
 

 Wiltshire delayed days increased by 29.8% (482 days) in January, which 
was 775 days higher than the trajectory of 1,325 days. 

 

 NHS delays were 1,306: 
- Increased in January by 26.4% over trajectory by 511 days. 
- Great Weston Hospital, Swindon, Royal United Hospital, Bath and 

Wiltshire Health & Care had the largest number of delays. 
 

 Adult Social Care delays were 657: 
- Increased in January by 37.1% over trajectory by 236 days. 
- Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust and Wiltshire Health & Care had the 

largest number of delays. 
- Acute delays accounted for around 65% of Adult Social Care delays. 
 

During discussion, it was noted that there was a great deal of work being 
undertaken by all agencies involved to help overcome the problems associated 
with delayed discharges.  The Care Quality Commission (CQC) was due to 

Page 16



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

publish a report on a systems review but this would not be available until June 
2018. 
 
Members considered how best scrutiny could be involved in helping to 
overcome this problem and a suggestion was made that possibly a member of 
this Committee might be appointed to one of the boards involved with the Better 
Care Plan, possibly the Integration and Better Care. A further suggestion was 
made that possibly the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of this Committee attend 
meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board and report back on issues to this 
Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) To ask the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Public Health & 

Public Protection to provide a brief update, possibly as a 
Chairman’s Announcement, on the outcome of the CQC review 
(to be published in June) and the key actions for Wiltshire.  

 
(2) To welcome an update on the Better Care Plan and Delayed 

Transfers of Care after winter 2018 (in the spring of 2019) 
including Allocation of Better Care Fund. 

 
(3) To invite the Cabinet Member to consider further scrutiny 

involvement such as appointing a member of this Committee to 
one of the boards involved with the Better Care Plan. 

 
 
    
 

40 Task Group and Programme Boards Representatives Updates 
 
 
The Committee received updates on the activities of active task groups and 
from members of this Committee who had been appointed as overview & 
scrutiny representatives on programme boards. 
 
Resolved: 
 

(1) To note the updates on task group activity provided. 
 

(2) To note that Cllr Haley Spencer had stepped down from the 
Children & Adolescents Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Task 
Group and endorse that it continue as a 4-member task group.  
 

(3) To congratulate Natalie Heritage, Senior Scrutiny Officer, on the 
considerable contribution she had made to the work of this Task 
Group.  

 

Page 17



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

41 Forward Work Programme 
 
The Committee received a document showing the relevant items form the 
Overview & Scrutiny Forward Work Programme. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the Forward Work Programme for this Committee. 
 

42 Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items of business. 
 

43 Date of Next Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note that the next scheduled meeting of the Committee was due to be 
held on Wednesday 11 July 2018, at County Hall, Trowbridge, starting at 
10.30am. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  2.00 pm  - 4.40 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Roger Bishton, of Democratic 
Services, direct line (01225) 713035, e-mail roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 

1b   

 

Page 18



 

> 

    
 
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
3 July 2018 

 
Subject:   Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman   
                                 Complaint   
  
Cabinet Members: Councillor Jerry Wickham - Adult Social Care, Public 
  Health and Public Protection 
  
Key Decision:  No 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman considers 
complaints from members of the public that they have suffered injustice 
as a result of maladministration and/or service failure by local 
authorities and other bodies within its jurisdiction. The Ombudsman has 
extensive investigation powers and can make findings based upon a 
balance of probabilities test, similar to the civil courts.  
 
The Ombudsman published a report on 27 April 2018 finding 
maladministration against the Council that caused injustice to the 
complainant, Mrs. N, regarding the provision of respite care and travel 
support for her son Mr. P. 
 
Where the Ombudsman reports that injustice has been caused to a 
person in consequence of maladministration, the relevant body, in 
this case the Cabinet, must, within three months of the publication of 
the report, consider the report and notify the Ombudsman of the 
action which the Council has taken or proposes to take.  
 
The Council must also make arrangements for the publication and 
inspection of the report as set out in the relevant legislation.  
 
Following consideration by Cabinet, the report will also be referred to 
the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee and the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 13



 

> 

 

Proposals 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

a) Note the findings and recommendations in the Ombudsman’s 
report published on 27 April 2018; 

 
b) Confirms the Council’s acceptance of the Ombudsman’s findings 

and recommendations and the actions to remedy the injustice as set 
out in the report. 

 
c) Authorise the Director of Adult Care Services in consultation with the 

Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Public Health and Public 
Protection to take the necessary steps to address the issues raised 
in the Ombudsman's report. 
  

d) Require that a progress report is made to the Standards 
Committee and to the Health Select Committee within 6 
months. 

 

 

Reason for Proposals 
 
To enable the Council to consider the Ombudsman’s report and formally 
confirm its response to the Ombudsman as required by law.  

 

 
Ian Gibbons, Director of Legal & Democratic Service and Monitoring 
Officer 
 
Tracy Daszkiewicz, Director of Adult Services 

Page 20



 

> 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
3 July 2018 

 
Subject:  Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman            
                              Complaint 
  
Cabinet Members: Councillor Jerry Wickham - Adult Social Care, Public 
  Health and Public Protection 
  
Key Decision:  No 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. The purpose of the report is to inform Cabinet of the findings and 
recommendations in the report of the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman (“the Ombudsman”) published on 27 April 2018 and to confirm 
the Council’s response to the report.  

 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. The issues raised within the Ombudsman’s report are integral to the Wiltshire 

Council Business Plan 2017 – 2027. They highlight the need to ensure 
protection of the most vulnerable in our community. This is achieved through 
a balanced and collaborative approach to empowering and safeguarding 
families and individuals, whilst ensuring there is a joined-up approach to health 
and care integration. 

 
Background 
 
3. Mr. and Mrs. N have an adult son, Mr. P, who has complex needs that are 

eligible for support. He has always lived at home with his parents. Mr. N is 
disabled and Mrs. N is the carer for both Mr. N and Mr. P.  At her request, the 
Council pays her via direct payments to be Mr. N’s carer.  

 

4. Mr. P has attended a day care facility on weekdays and the same respite centre 
for many years. The Council has provided transport for him to day care and 
residential respite care. The family lived in a house about 10 miles from the day 
care centre. In late 2015, Mr. and Mrs. N relocated within the County being 
keen that the existing care package should remain. 

 
5. In June 2016, Mr. P’s transport funding was reduced, with a request that Mrs. 

N undertake two journeys per week between the home and the day centre or 
alternatively, fund the trips at a cost of £30.00 per trip. A decision was also 
taken to reduce respite care from 104 nights per year to 68 nights per year. 

  
6. Mrs. N complained, initially under the Council’s Complaints Procedure, both in 

relation to the transport, as she was also required to care for her husband and 
to undertake the journeys would result in her husband being left 

Page 21



 

> 

unaccompanied for up to 6 hours. Mrs. N also complained in relation to the 
reduction of respite care provision. Mrs. N subsequently complained to the 
Ombudsman. 

 
Ombudsman’s conclusions  
 
7. A copy of the Ombudsman’s report is attached at Appendix 1. The 

Ombudsman’s conclusions are set out at paragraphs 66-99 of the report.  
 

8. The Ombudsman concluded that the Council was at fault in the way in which it 
reduced the level of respite and transport provision. The request that transport 
be provided or funded by the family, was not based upon an assessment of 
need and therefore, in breach of the requirements of the Care Act. 

 
9. The Ombudsman further concluded that the Council was at fault in the use and 

application of the Matrix Assessment Tool and for introducing the reduction in 
respite care, as quickly as it did. The Matrix Assessment Tool involved a four-
stage assessment process, that assisted in the assessing of needs and 
allocation of available resources. 

 
10. The Ombudsman also concluded the Council was at fault for having processed 

the complaint, by way of a two-stage complaint process, as opposed to a one 
stage complaints process, in accordance with the statutory scheme for adult 
care complaints under the 2009 Regulations. 

 
Ombudsman recommendations 
 
11. The Ombudsman’s recommendations are set out in paragraphs 101-103 of the 

report. These include a requirement for the Council to consider the report and 
confirm, within three months, the action it has taken or proposes to take.  The 
recommendations are as follows: 

 
o Apologise to Mrs N. 
o Restore the previous level of respite care pending a reassessment 

compliant with the Care Act 2014. 
o Confirm it will offer her 24 days’ respite care, to be taken at a time of 

her choosing, in recognition of the respite care wrongly withdrawn. 
o Pay Mrs N £747.50 in recognition of the money she paid the Council 

for transport.  
o Pay Mrs N £500 in recognition of distress and time and trouble. 
o Review its policy and procedure on respite care, to reflect the 

requirements of the Care Act 2014. 
o Review other files for evidence of use of the Matrix Assessment Tool.  

It should write promptly to anyone similarly affected and review their 
cases. 

o Review the files of anyone whose transport was cut, to ensure these 
cuts were compliant with the Care Act. 

o Inform the Ombudsman of the numbers of people involved and 
undertake to review all cases, within a further three months. 

o Ensure all staff receive training in the requirements of the Care Act and 
the relevant guidance. 

o Review all relevant documents to ensure they reflect the current law.  

Page 22



 

> 

 

 
Main Considerations for the Council 

 
12. The Council has considered and accepted the conclusions and 

recommendations of the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.  
 

13. To address the recommendations, an action plan has been developed 
(Appendix 2) which is supported by a tracking tool to ensure all actions are 
completed, within the suggested time frame, by the end of July 2018.   

 
14. Additional resources have been provided from colleagues, in other Adult 

Social Care teams, to ensure actions are prioritized and delivered. A total of 
142 customers have been identified as needing a review and all have been 
allocated a worker.  Approximately 30% of these reviews have now been 
completed and all are scheduled to be carried out before the end of July.  Of 
those completed, there have been no significant financial implications for the 
Council, as a result of this activity. 

 
15. As part of the adult care transformation programme, all policies and 

procedures relating to assessment and support planning have been reviewed 
and are in line with Care Act guidance.  In addition, Care Act training for all 
social care staff, from induction through to regular updates, has been 
provided, with additional training sessions being implemented with the 
Learning Disability Teams.  This specifically includes training, with regard to 
support planning and the use of respite care to meet eligible need.   

 
Overview and Scrutiny Engagement 

 
16. It is proposed that progress in implementing the agreed actions on this 

matter is reviewed by the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee after 6 months. 

 
Safeguarding Implications 
 
17. The actions that are to be taken in response to the Ombudsman’s Report 

will strengthen the approach of Wiltshire Council to safeguarding the interests of 

services users. 
      
Public Health Implications 
 

18. The public health implications of this report, relate to services users, their 
carers and wider families. The adoption of the conclusions and 
recommendations of the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman will 
further ensure a positive impact upon individual health and wellbeing.  

 
Procurement Implications 

 

19. The report does not contain or result in procurement implications. 
 
 

Page 23



 

> 

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal  
 

20. The equalities impact of the adoption of conclusion and recommendations of 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman further enhance the 
provision of services delivered by Adult Social Care.   

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 

21. There are no environment and climate change implications associated with 
this report.  

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 

22. The Council has accepted the conclusions and recommendations of the 
Ombudsman’s report.  Failure to implement the recommendations would 
result in customers and families potentially not receiving the appropriate 
amount of care to meet their needs.  There would also be legal and 
reputational risks to the Council. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 
 

23. None identified. 
 
Financial Implications 
 

24. It is not anticipated that this process will incur significant increased costs to 
the Council,  

 
Legal Implications 
 

25. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman considers 
complaints from members of the public that they have suffered 
injustice, as a result of maladministration and/or service failure by 
local authorities and other bodies within its jurisdiction. The 
Ombudsman has extensive investigation powers and can make 
findings, based upon a balance of probabilities test, similar to the 
civil courts.  
 
Where the Ombudsman reports that injustice has been caused to a 
person, in consequence of maladministration, the relevant body, in this 
case the Cabinet, must, within three months of the publication of the 
report, consider the report and notify the Ombudsman of the action which 
the Council has taken or proposes to take.  
 
The Council must also make arrangements for the publication and inspection 
of the report as set out in the relevant legislation. 
 

Directors :  Ian Gibbons, Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer, 
  Tracy Daszkiewicz, Director of Adult Services 

Page 24



 

> 

 
Date of report 6th June 2018 
 
 
Appendices 
 

1. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Report 12th April 2018: 
16015946 

2. Recommendation Action tracker 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
Investigation into a complaint against 

Wiltshire County Council 

(reference number: 16 015 946) 

 

12 April 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Ombudsman I PO Box 4771 I Coventry I CV4 0EH 

www.lgo.org.uk 

  

Report by the Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman 

Page 27

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

The Ombudsman’s role  

For 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated complaints. We 

effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our jurisdiction by recommending 

redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable based on all the facts of the 

complaint. Our service is free of charge. 

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs and 

circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make recommendations to 

remedy injustice caused by fault.  

  

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost always 

do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are: 

 apologise 

  pay a financial remedy 

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again. 

 

Page 28



Investigation into complaint number 16 015 946 against Wiltshire Council 

Contents  

Report summary ..................................................................................................................... 1 

The Complaint ........................................................................................................................ 2 

Legal and administrative background ..................................................................................... 2 

How we considered this complaint.......................................................................................... 4 

Investigation ........................................................................................................................... 4 

Conclusions ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Decision ............................................................................................................................... 13 

Recommended actions ......................................................................................................... 13 

 

 

 

 

 

Key to names used 

Mrs N – The complainant acting on behalf of her son 

Mr N – Her husband 

Mr P – Their son, an adult in need of specialist care 

 

 

 

Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally name 

or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a letter or 

job role. 

 

 

Page 29



1 
 

Report summary 

Adult Care Services  

Mrs N cares for Mr P, her son. She complains the Council has wrongly cut the respite 

care provided for her son and has wrongly asked her to pay towards the cost of her 

son’s transport between home and day care. 

Finding 

Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made. 

Recommendations 

The Council has accepted our recommendations. The Council will consider the report at 

its full Council or Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected 

members and confirm within three months the action it has taken or proposes to take. 

We will require evidence of this. 

In addition to the requirements set out above the Council has agreed to take the 

following action to remedy the injustice identified in this report. The Council will: 

• Apologise to Mrs N; 

• Restore the previous level of respite care pending a re-assessment compliant with 
the Care Act 2014; 

• Confirm it will offer her 24 days respite care to be taken at a time of her choosing in 
recognition of the respite care wrongly withdrawn; 

• Pay Mrs N £747.50 in recognition of money she paid the Council for transport; 

• Pay Mrs N £500 in recognition of distress and time and trouble; 

• Review its policy and procedure on respite care to reflect the requirements of the 
Care Act 2014; 

• Review other files for evidence of use of the Matrix Assessment Tool (MAT). It 
should write promptly to anyone similarly affected and review their cases; 

• Review the files of anyone whose transport was cut to ensure these cuts were 
compliant with the Care Act; 

• Inform the Ombudsman of the numbers of people involved and undertake to review 
all cases within a further three months; 

• Ensure all staff receive training in the requirements of the Care Act and the relevant 
guidance; and 

• Review all relevant documents to ensure they reflect the current law. 

 

 

Page 30



2 
 

The Complaint  

1. Mrs N and her husband care for their disabled adult son, Mr P. Mrs N complains the 

Council has wrongly cut Mr P’s respite care and she was wrongly asked to pay towards 

the cost of his transport to and from his day care centre. 

Legal and administrative background  

2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this report, 

we have used the word fault to refer to these. We must also consider whether any fault 

has had an adverse impact on the person making the complaint. We refer to this as 

‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused an injustice, we may suggest a 

remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), as amended) 

3. The Ombudsman may investigate matters coming to our attention during an 

investigation, if we consider a member of the public who has not complained may have 

suffered an injustice as a result. (Local Government Act 1974, section 26D and 34E) 

4. When investigating complaints, if there is a conflict of evidence, the Ombudsman may 

make findings based on the balance of probabilities. This means that during an 

investigation, we will weigh up the available evidence and base our findings on what we 

think was more likely to have happened.   

Social care 

5. The Care Act 2014 introduced a requirement that local authorities should promote 

‘wellbeing’ and ‘signifies a shift from existing duties on local authorities to provide 

particular services, to the concept of ‘meeting needs’…. The concept of meeting needs 

recognises that everyone’s needs are different and personal to them. Local authorities 

must consider how to meet each person’s specific needs rather than simply considering 

what service they will fit into’. (Care and Support Statutory Guidance, Ch 1) 

6. Councils must also consider the importance of preventing or delaying the development 

of needs for care and support among carers. Statutory guidance recommends ‘tertiary 

prevention’ methods such as respite care. (Care and Support Statutory Guidance 2.10) 

Needs assessment 

6. A council must carry out an assessment of any adult who seems to need care and 

support. It must also involve the individual and where appropriate their carer or any other 

person they might want involved. (Care Act 2014, section 9) 

7. Having identified eligible needs through a needs assessment, the Council has a duty to 

meet those needs. (Care Act 2014, section 18) 

8. The Care Act sets out examples of different ways a council can meet eligible needs. 

Examples include accommodation in a care home, care and support at home, 

counselling and social work, and information, advice and advocacy. (Care Act 2014, s 8) 

Page 31



3 
 

9. If a council decides a person is eligible for care, it must prepare a care and support plan. 

This must set out the needs identified in the assessment. It must say whether, and to 

what extent, the needs meet the eligibility criteria. It must specify the needs the council 

intends to meet and how it intends to meet them. (Care Act 2014, ss 24 and 25)  

10. A council should revise a care and support plan where circumstances have changed in a 

way that affects the care and support plan needs. Where there is a proposal to change 

how to meet eligible needs, a council should take all reasonable steps to reach 

agreement with the adult concerned about how to meet those needs. (Care Act 2014, s27(4) 

and (5)) 

11. The care and support plan must set out a personal budget which specifies the cost to 

the local authority of meeting eligible needs, the amount a person must contribute and 

the amount the council must contribute. (Care Act 2014, s 26) 

12. The High Court has confirmed an individual’s wishes are not the same as their needs 

and their wishes are not the paramount consideration. A council must have ‘due regard’ 

to an adult’s wishes as a starting point, but social workers are entitled to exercise their 

professional skills and judgement in deciding how to meet eligible needs. (R (Davey) v 

Oxfordshire County Council [2017] EWHC 354 (Admin)) 

13. A person with eligible care needs can have a council arrange their care. Or, if they wish, 

they can arrange their own care using a direct payment. (Care Act 2014, s 31) 

Carers 

14. A council must consider whether to carry out a carer’s assessment if it appears the carer 

has need for support.  It must assess the carer’s ability and willingness to continue in the 

caring role. It must also consider the results the carer wishes to achieve in daily life and 

whether support could contribute to achieving those results (Care Act 2014, s10) 

15. The Act says the local authority can meet the carer’s needs by providing a service 

directly. In these cases, the carer must still receive a support plan which covers their 

needs, and how they will be met. (Care Act 2014, s 25) 

16. The Council can also provide a carer’s personal budget, which must be sufficient to 

enable the carer to continue to fulfil their caring role. The Council should consider the 

carer’s wishes for their day-to-day life. The Council should try to agree the personal 

budget and its use during the planning process. (Care and Support Statutory Guidance 2014) 

Allocation of resources 

17. The Care and Support Statutory Guidance states: 

a. “It is important to have a consistent method for calculating personal budgets that 

provides an early indication of the appropriate amount to meet the identified 

needs to be used at the beginning of the planning process. Local authorities 

should ensure that the method used for calculating the personal budget 

produces equitable outcomes to ensure fairness in care and support packages 

Page 32



4 
 

regardless of the environment in which care and support takes place, for 

example, in a care home or someone’s own home. Local authorities should not 

have arbitrary ceilings to personal budgets that result in people being forced to 

accept to move into care homes against their will.” (Ombudsman’s emphasis added. 

Care and Support Statutory Guidance 2014, 11.22) 

b. “There are many variations of systems used to arrive at personal budget 

amounts, ranging from complex algorithmic-based resource allocation systems 

(RAS), to more ‘ready-reckoner’ approaches. Complex RAS models of allocation 

may not work for all client groups, especially where people have multiple 

complex needs, or where needs are comparatively costly to meet, such as in the 

case of deaf-blind people. It is important that these factors are taken into 

account, and that a ‘one size fits all’ approach to resource allocation is not 

taken. If a RAS model is being used, local authorities should consider alternative 

approaches where the process may be more suitable to particular client groups 

to ensure that the personal budget is an appropriate amount to meet needs” 

(Ombudsman’s emphasis added. Care and Support Statutory Guidance 2014, 11.23) 

Complaints procedure 

18. Councils should ensure complaints are dealt with efficiently. (Local Authority Social 

Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations (2009) reg 3) 

How we considered this complaint  

19. We produced this report after speaking to Mrs N. We asked the Council for its relevant 

files and documents. We gave the complainant and the Council two confidential drafts 

and invited comments. We took their comments into account before finalising the report. 

Investigation  

Background  

20. Mr and Mrs N have an adult son, Mr P, who has complex needs. He has severe learning 

difficulties and epilepsy. He has always lived at home with his parents.  

21. Mr P needs constant care. He is doubly incontinent, incapable of speech and has severe 

cognitive impairment. Mrs N says she sleeps lightly because of concerns about his 

epilepsy. He is often awake through the night. Mrs N describes herself as ‘close to 

breaking point’.  

22. Recently, Mr N has also become disabled. He can only walk short distances and had to 

take early retirement. Mrs N acts as carer to both Mr N and Mr P. At her request, the 

Council pays her via direct payments to be Mr N’s carer.  

23. Since leaving school, Mr P has attended a day care facility within the Council’s area on 

week days. He has attended the same respite centre for many years. The Council has 

provided transport for him to day care. It also provides residential respite care. The 

family lived, until 2016, in a house about 10 miles from the day care centre. 

Page 33



5 
 

Council’s transport duty 

24. The Council must provide transport to adults in need of social care where this is 

necessary for them to receive care. It assesses eligibility for such transport according to 

the Eligibility Criteria for Community Care Transport document (2005). This states: 

• ‘The test of eligibility is ‘Would the failure of the Council to provide transport result in 

an eligible need for services going unmet’ 

• The Council would not normally provide transport for individuals in receipt of a 

Motability payment. 

25. For many years, the family has had a Motability vehicle to help with Mr P’s transport.  

Nonetheless, the Council did not expect Mrs N to drive Mr P to and from day care.  

The Matrix Assessment Tool 

26. The Council adopted its ‘Matrix Assessment Tool’ (‘MAT’) in 2007. Its stated purpose 

was to ‘ensure limited resources could be fairly allocated to families based on need’.  

27. The Council’s document ‘The Matrix Assessment – How it Works’ (‘How it works’) 

explains the process. There are four stages: 

a. Stage one: assess applicant’s need for respite care. The MAT allocates a score 

in various categories to reflect the applicant’s level of disability or need.  

b. Stage two: assess the ‘current provision of service’. This provides a second 

score which must be subtracted from the ‘need’ score.  

c. Stage three: assess ‘the carer’s situation’. The ‘carer’s score’ is then added to 

the previous total.  

d. Stage four: The Council assesses those requiring respite care and lists 

applicants according to their scores.  The Council then calculates the number of 

respite beds available. It then divides the number of beds available by the 

number of beds required. This calculation creates the ‘coefficient’. The Council 

then multiplies the score of each service user by the coefficient. This produces a 

number which will be the number of nights' respite he will receive that year.  

28. How it Works contains a specimen calculation; the Council has 1400 bed nights 

available and the demand is for 2750 bed nights. The Council has half the number of 

beds it needs which produces a coefficient of 0.5. With this coefficient in place, an 

applicant with a score of 160 would receive 80 nights respite care (160 multiplied by 

0.5).  

Introducing reductions gradually 

29. How it Works contains the following guidance; ‘Some people will have allocated levels 

below their current level of service. To avoid causing sudden drops in service levels, it is 

intended that any gap will not be greater than 80% of the current level. 

Page 34



6 
 

For example 

Current level = 75 nights 

Assessed level = 59 nights 

gap = (75 – 59) 16 nights 

80% of 16 = 13 

actual level = 59 + 13 (72) nights’. 

30. ‘Each year the level will be reduced by a further 20% until the assessed level is reached, 

or if individual needs change, a re-assessment indicates a new assessment level’.  

31. The wording used in How It Works is somewhat ambiguous. However, by following the 

calculations, it is clear that only 20% of any proposed reduction should be made each 

year.  

32. Until 2016, the Council funded four consecutive nights of respite care every other week. 

(104 days respite care per year).  

33. In 2013, the Council carried out a comprehensive assessment of Mr P’s needs. His 

eligibility level under the prevailing criteria were recorded as: 

• Managing behaviour and actions – critical 

• Managing personal care – critical 

• Access, mobility and transfers – critical 

• Nutritional needs – critical 

• Running and maintaining your home – critical 

• Keeping safe – critical 

• Making decisions and organising your life – critical 

• Community life, work and learning – critical 

• Family relationships – critical 

 

34. The Council accepts Mr P’s needs have not changed since 2013.  

Review 2015 

35. In April 2015, the Care Act came into force. The Council reviewed Mr P’s needs. The 

review took some time because Mr P was ill. The review document stated his needs 

could be met by an indicative budget of ‘£1000 to £2000 a week’.  The Council has told 

me the indicative budget figure in the April 2015 review document was a misprint and 

should have read ‘£700 to £1000 a week’.  

House move 

36. In late 2015, Mr and Mrs N decided to move. Mrs N was very keen that Mr P should 

keep his existing care package at their new home.  

Page 35



7 
 

37. The Council’s records show Mrs N emailed the Council in December 2015 saying; ‘Good 

morning, my son uses adult care services in the [local town] area, receiving transport to 

and from [Mr P’s] day care centre. Could someone make contact with me please as we 

have now sold our house and need to know if the house we are about to offer on is still 

[in] the catchment area’.  

38. A few days later, the Council wrote back saying the house was ‘in our catchment area’.  

39. Mrs N wrote again saying ‘we have tried to get some guide lines as to where we can 

move to whilst keeping [Mr P’s] all-important care package and understood, as long as 

we didn’t move to [local village] which we understood was the boundary, we should be 

fine’. There is no record of the Council’s response.  

40. Mr and Mrs N bought the property. In January 2016, she contacted the Council to give 

the new address. The Council asked her to tell them when they moved. Mrs N then 

emailed back asking if he could keep the same escort ‘to give [Mr P] some continuity 

when he most needs it’.  

41. Mrs N says she saw these conversations as assurances she would retain the same 

services at the new house.  

42. The Council says Mrs N was not justified in this belief. It says; ‘It is quite a different thing 

for the Council to say that Mr P would continue to receive support to whether Mr P would 

continue to receive support at a particular service’. 

43. ‘None of the contemporaneous recordings support Mrs N’s version of what was said. In 

the Council’s view, what Mrs N asserts was said would be contrary to section 27 Care 

Act as a change of address would be a change of circumstances that would require a 

review of the care and support plan’.  

Review of transport/respite care 

44. In June 2016, Mrs N spoke to another parent at the day care centre who told her the 

Council had withdrawn or limited the transport provision of many of the centre’s users. 

Mrs N contacted the Council to ask if it intended to cut Mr P’s transport funding.  

45. Not long afterwards, the Council told Mrs N it had decided to cut Mr P’s transport funding 

and to ask Mrs N to provide two journeys a week between home and day care. She 

could either pay the Council £30 a trip or provide the transport herself.  

46. The Council said it had also decided to cut respite care from 104 nights per year to 68 

nights per year. The Council said it had calculated the new level using the MAT. 

47. Mrs N complained about these decisions. With regards to the transport, she said she 

had to care for her husband. The round trip to and from the day care centre could take 

her three hours, including getting Mr P in and out of the car. This would leave Mr N at 

home, uncared for. The Council says Mr N does not require constant care.  

 

Page 36



8 
 

Council’s explanation for transport cut 

48. The Council said, ‘the eligibility for transport explains we do not offer transport for 

anyone who has access to their own mobility vehicle. However, there is no expectation 

that a carer should have to drive more than 100 miles per week…. The cost of transport 

is approx £60 a day from your current home address. If your son was to return his 

mobility car it is likely the money he receives instead … will only cover the cost of one 

day and the Council would have to provide transport for the additional 4 days. Therefore, 

as an alternative … you could either provide one day of transport or purchase one day of 

transport instead. I understand the mornings can be a difficult time for you and as a 

solution I would suggest transport is provided two afternoons instead’.  

49. The Council now says the cost of transporting Mr P from the new house to the respite 

centre is £90 per day. 

Assessment September 2016 

50. In September 2016, the Council conducted a review of Mr P’s needs. In the summary, it 

said, ‘all support needs are being met – no change required…., ‘Mrs N is happy to 

continue as Mr P’s main carer and for him to reside in the family home (respite, day care 

and transport arrangements need to remain unchanged to continue to support)’.  

51. Mr P’s eligibility for services remained unchanged. His wellbeing outcomes remained 

unchanged. Mr P’s indicative budget was, however, recorded as ‘£700 to £1000 per 

week’, a reduction from the level set at the previous assessment.  

Respite care 

52. Mrs N said she needed the respite care to remain at its current level. She said she 

wanted to care for Mr P but could not do so without respite.  

53. The Council said it had carried out a fresh calculation of the family’s respite care 

entitlement. It said it had applied the provisions set out in the MAT. It had assessed 

Mr P’s and Mrs N’s needs against the MAT framework and awarded a score of 167.  

54. It had then, it said, multiplied this figure by a coefficient of 0.5 to produce 68.47 thereby 

making the family eligible for 68 days respite care per year. (It had, in fact, used a 

coefficient of 0.41. It has done so ever since it introduced the MAT).  

55. It said Mrs N had been receiving a level of respite care above that which it gave in 

similar cases. It said the change would be introduced ‘gradually’ and would be fully in 

place by April 2017 

56. After a lengthy email exchange, and several meetings, during which a range of options, 

including options for Mr P’s respite, were discussed, the Council informed her it would 

impose the changes to transport and respite.  

57. The transport changes were introduced immediately. The Council said it would introduce 

the reduction in respite ‘gradually’ between December 2016 and April 2017.  

Page 37



9 
 

58. In response to our enquiries, the Council wrote ‘The support being offered to the family 

is in line with the individual’s needs as assessed by Adult Care Services; is in line with 

the Council’s policies and procedures; and in line with the Care Act 2014, the legislation 

that the Council is required to consider when assessing and meeting the unmet eligible 

needs of each person. The level of support being offered is in line with others who have 

similar assessed needs.  

59. ‘Mrs N has stated that she and [Mr N] have recently made decisions regarding where 

within [the council area] they live, ensuring they stay within the county boundary. 

However, they are residing in an area much further away from the services that her 

previous assessment noted, contributing to some of the increases in costs of the 

services Mr P receives. The Council believes it has tried to explore and offer a range of 

options to assist Mrs N and her family maximise the personal budget they are eligible to 

receive, but Mrs N has consistently refused to explore these options insisting that she 

and Mr P only receive the services in the way they have previously’.  

60. We asked the Council to restore respite care during our investigations into the case. It 

responded ‘…The allocation of support being provided is at the top level…therefore I am 

not able to agree funding a person above the amount the council deems appropriate’. 

Current situation 

61. Mrs N says she wants to remain as Mr P’s main carer. However, she believes she will 

not be able to do so unless her previous level of respite is restored.  

62. The Council says it wants Mrs N to allow Mr P to attend day care in a facility closer to 

the new house. It says this will be cheaper. Mrs N refuses to allow this. She says the 

Council assured her she could move to the new house and continue to use the same 

day care centre. She says this is ‘non-negotiable’.  

63. Mrs N cares for her husband and says this has increased her need for respite at a time 

when the Council has cut it. She says she is exhausted as Mr P often keeps her up for 

hours.  She says she sleeps poorly anyway as she is worried about the possibility of 

Mr P’s sudden death from epilepsy. For this reason, she will not take sleeping pills.  

64. Mrs N says she is being treated by her doctor for chest pains. She says she is frequently 

distressed, ‘tearful and unsettled’. She has been offered antidepressant medication by 

her GP but has refused it.   

65. Mrs N was unhappy with the Council’s responses to her complaint, so she complained to 

the Ombudsman  

Conclusions  

66. The Council was at fault for the way in which it reduced both the level of respite care and 

the transport provision. The reasons why are set out below.  

 

Page 38



10 
 

Funding limits 

67. The Council says the family is receiving care ‘at the top level’. This approach does not 

accord with the Care Act which requires councils to assess and meet eligible needs. The 

Council cannot set maximum budget levels. The Act says eligible needs must be met, no 

matter what the cost.  

68. The Council says the indicative weekly budget set at the April 2015 review was wrongly 

recorded as £1000 - £2000 a week. It says it should have been £700 - £1000. This is 

immaterial. The only question is whether the Council is meeting eligible needs.  

69. The Council has provided me with its bandings. It says Mr P’s disability falls into a 

certain band and therefore his funding cannot exceed a certain level.  

70. Again, this approach does not accord with the Care Act. The Council may use bandings 

as a guide but, as the Care and Support Statutory Guidance states, such systems are 

unlikely to work in complex cases like Mr P’s.  

71. The Council has provided evidence that the cost of transport from the new family home 

is much higher than before. It says there is alternative provision closer to the new house 

and it wants Mr P to go there. Mrs N is adamant this should not happen.  

72. Mrs N cannot, in the end, insist on the location of care. Nor can the Council cap care on 

the basis of cost. The Council must use its professional judgment to decide where care 

is provided. Mrs N may have a strong preference for a certain day centre but the Council 

does not have to provide care at that centre.  

73. The Council may, however, have created an expectation that Mr P’s care and respite 

would continue unchanged if the family moved. This may give Mrs N grounds to resist 

any such change. We make no finding on this though please see paragraphs 96 and 97 

for our views on the evidence 

Decision to ask Mrs N to fund/provide one day of transport 

74. The Council’s decision to ask the family to either fund or provide one day’s transport per 

week appears to have been part of a general withdrawal of provision and a cost cutting 

exercise. It was not based on assessments of need and was therefore in breach of the 

requirements of the Care Act and was fault. 

75. In Mrs N’s case, asking Mrs N to provide the transport would have resulted in Mr N’s 

needs going unmet. Mrs N is his carer too. Asking Mrs N to provide one day’s transport 

per week for Mr P would result in Mr N being left alone for six hours.  

76. The Council’s guidance on transport says; ‘The test of eligibility is ‘Would the failure of 

the Council to provide transport result in an eligible need for services going unmet?’. 

Clearly, in this case, it would.  

Page 39



11 
 

77. The Council also has a Care Act duty to consider the wishes of those involved; service 

users and carers. It cannot force an unwilling carer to provide care she reasonably 

states she cannot give. 

78. The Council also relied on its rule, not contained in the policy, that no-one should have 

to drive more than 100 miles per week. The Council suggested Mrs N should drive 100 

miles, not in a week, but in one day or two (two round trips of fifty miles).   

79. There is no evidence the Council considered whether Mrs N, who complains of 

sleepless nights looking after Mr P, would be able to provide this transport.  The Council 

was at fault, therefore, for failing to follow its own guidance, to comply with the Care Act 

and for applying an unwritten criterion with no basis in the assessment of eligible needs. 

80. For the reasons given, the Council was at fault for the way in which it reduced the 

funding for transport. This fault has caused injustice. Mrs N has been required to pay 

£60 per week towards the cost of transport when she should not have been. 

81. The Council has agreed to repay her for this but it argues this figure should be reduced 

by the Council’s weekly transport contribution (payable by all users) multiplied by the 

number of weeks reduction.  

82. The Council charges all transport users £3.70 a day (£18.50 a week). We accept this 

request as fair. The Council has agreed to repay Mrs N £747.50. 

 Use of the Matrix Assessment Tool (MAT) 

83. The MAT predates the Care Act. Its purpose is to ration available resources. The Care 

Act requires councils to meet eligible needs. It does not allow rationing for any reason. If 

a council cannot meet an eligible need, it must pay someone else to meet it.  

84. The MAT is, therefore, incompatible with the Care Act. The Council is at fault for 

continuing to use it. If the Council has used the MAT in other cases, this will also be 

fault. We shall return to this point in our recommendations. 

85. The Council was at fault in reducing the family’s care as it did and Mrs N has suffered 

injustice. She says she cannot cope without the respite care and the cut has caused her 

great distress. She says she has been treated by her doctor for this. 

86. The Council accepts it did not use the MAT as prescribed in its own guidance. It accepts 

its failure to recalculate the coefficient has reduced the MAT’s effectiveness as a tool.  

87. It maintains the MAT was effective in informing care and support planning but accepts 

the approach does not accord with the guidance and has agreed to stop using it.   

Failure to apply MAT guidance on reducing care gradually 

88. The Council was also at fault for introducing the reduction in care as quickly as it did.  

The cut in care was calculated using the MAT and the MAT guidance is clear that only 

20% of any respite reduction should be introduced each year. This should have meant a 

reduction of 6 nights in year one, from 104 nights per year to 98 nights per year.  

Page 40



12 
 

89. In practice, the entirety of the reduction was made immediately. The Council cut the 

respite care by 36 days in year one and reduced her respite care from four days every 

two weeks to three days every two weeks with immediate effect. The family has had 

three days respite per week ever since. 

90. Even if any reduction could be justified by the current law and guidance, it was not 

introduced in line with the Council’s own guidance set out in How It Works. Nor was it 

introduced ‘gradually’ as the Council said.   

91. The Council said, in response to the first draft of this report, ‘the reduction had no 

connection to the possible uses of the MAT when it was introduced by the Council in 

2006. The Council has never changed the coefficient that would lead to a deduction in 

support to all those using respite services’.  

92. This argument does not help the Council. The reduction was calculated using the MAT 

and, if the reduction was to be introduced, it should have been introduced at the rate set 

out in the MAT guidance. The failure to do so was fault.  

93. Further, the Council never calculated the coefficient during the period it used the MAT. 

This too was fault. The coefficient was intended to represent the ratio of available beds 

to demand. Because the Council never calculated it, it did not do so. It should have been 

calculated at least once a year.  

94. In any event, the MAT is incompatible with the Care Act. The Act states that the Council 

must assess eligible needs and meet them. It cannot ration care on the basis that it does 

not have sufficient capacity.  

95. This fault caused Mrs N and her family additional injustice. Mrs N says she has not been 

able to cope and has suffered a great deal of distress because of the reduction in the 

respite care which was calculated erroneously and introduced immediately.  

 Assurances about moving to new house 

96. I find, on a fair reading of the Council’s records, Mrs N was asking about retaining Mr P’s 

current provision and not continuing to be eligible for support from the Council. She 

speaks of a desire for ‘continuity’ and the ‘need to retain the all-important care package’.  

97. Mrs N believes the Council assured her she would retain the existing care package if 

she moved. I find the notes support her claim. Whether knowingly or not, the Council 

created an expectation that Mr P would retain his existing service after moving.  

Two stage complaints process 

98. In December 2016, the Council responded to Mrs N’s “stage two complaint”. Since 

April 2009 The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints 

(England) Regulations (2009) and the Department of Health Listening, Responding, 

Improving (2009) guidance require a “proportionate, achievable and cost-effective” 

investigation. This has been interpreted to mean a one stage, rather than a multi stage, 

procedure for all adult social care complaints.  

Page 41



13 
 

99. The Council’s website says it uses a one stage process. The Council seems to have put 

Mrs N’s complaint through two stages. The Council is at fault for failing to follow its own 

procedures, and for not complying with the intention of the regulations and guidance. 

The Council has accepted it was at fault. 

Decision 

100. The Council was at fault both for reducing the respite care and for asking Mrs N to 

contribute towards the transport. This fault caused injustice. In particular it caused her 

stress and affected her wellbeing. We have suggested a remedy to reflect this.  

Recommended actions 

101. We welcome the Council’s agreement to our recommendations.  

102. The Council will consider the report at its full Council or Cabinet or other appropriately 

delegated committee of elected members and confirm within three months the action it 

has taken or proposes to take. We will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 

1974, section 31(2), as amended) 

103. In addition to the requirements set out above the Council has agreed to take the 

following action to remedy the injustice identified in this report. The Council will: 

• Apologise to Mrs N; 

• Restore the previous level of respite care pending a re-assessment compliant with 

the Care Act 2014; 

• Confirm it will offer her 24 days respite care to be taken at a time of her choosing in 

recognition of the respite care wrongly withdrawn; 

• Pay Mrs N £747.50 in recognition of money she paid the Council for transport; 

• Pay Mrs N £500 in recognition of distress and time and trouble; 

• Review its policy and procedure on respite care to reflect the requirements of the 

Care Act 2014; 

• Review other files for evidence of use of the MAT. It should write promptly to 

anyone similarly affected and review their cases; 

• Review the files of anyone whose transport was cut to ensure these cuts were 

compliant with the Care Act; 

• Inform the Ombudsman of the numbers of people involved and undertake to review 

all cases within a further three months; 

• Ensure all staff receive training in the requirements of the Care Act and the relevant 

guidance; and 

• Review all relevant documents to ensure they reflect the current law. 

 

The Council has already ceased using the MAT. It has also accepted that its complaints 

procedure was faulty in this instance. 

Page 42



LGO recommendations and Action Tracker (Appendix 2) Action to date Date completed 
Apologise to Mrs N Letter sent 1st May 2018

Restore the previous level of respite care pending a re-assessment compliant with the Care Act 2014

Level of care had never actually been 

reduced.

n/a

Confirm it will offer her 24 days respite care to be taken at a time of her choosing in recognition of the respite care wrongly withdrawn Letter sent to family 1st May 2018

Pay Mrs N £747.50 in recognition of money she paid the Council for transport Cheque sent 25th April 2018

Pay Mrs N £500 in recognition of distress and time and trouble Cheque sent 25th April 2018
Review its policy and procedure on respite care to reflect the requirements of the Care Act 2014 The Matrix Assessment Tool has not been 

used since Autumn 2017.  All relevant 

policies and procedures are fully compliant 

with Care Act guidance with regard to 

respite care.

October 2017 and 

ongoing.

Review other files for evidence of use of the MAT. It should write promptly to anyone similarly affected and review their cases All customers and families who receive 

respite care as part of their care and support 

plan have been identified (142 families).  All 

have been written to, informing them of 

LGO recommendations and plans to review 

care and support plan

letter  sent 4th May

Review the files of anyone whose transport was cut to ensure these cuts were compliant with the Care Act It is known that only one other family had 

cuts to transport which have been 

reinstated.

n/a

Inform the Ombudsman of the numbers of people involved and undertake to review all cases within a further three months

The Council will keep the LGO updated on the 

progress and number of reviews 

ongoing 

P
age 43



Ensure all staff receive training in the requirements of the Care Act and the relevant guidance All social care staff complete induction 

training and regular updates in Care Act 

guidance.  This is supplemented by individual 

supervision and appraisal. Additional  quality 

audit measures are being implemented 

through a performance management 

framework to ensure assessments and 

support plans are in line with guidance and 

this will inform future training.  Additional 

training sessions have been undertaken with 

the Learning Disability teams on the specific 

guidance needed to reflect the LGO 

recommendations. 

ongoing 

Review all relevant documents to ensure they reflect the current law As part of Phase 1 adult care transformation, 

assessment and support plan 

documentation used by all social care staff 

has been reviewed and is in line with Care 

Act guidance. 

Completed May 2018

P
age 44



                                          
  

Page | 1 

 

Wiltshire 

Local system review report 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Date of review: 

12 – 16 March 2018 

Background and scope of the local system review 

 

This review has been carried out following a request from the Secretaries of State for Health and 

Social care, and for Housing, Communities and Local Government to undertake a programme of 

20 targeted reviews of local authority areas. The purpose of this review is to understand how 

people move through the health and social care system with a focus on the interfaces between 

services.  

 

This review has been carried out under Section 48 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008. This 

gives the Care Quality Commission (CQC) the ability to explore issues that are wider than the 

regulations that underpin our regular inspection activity. By exploring local area commissioning 

arrangements and how organisations are working together to develop person-centred, 

coordinated care for people who use services, their families and carers, we are able to 

understand people’s experience of care across the local area, and how improvements can be 

made. 

 

This report is one of 20 local area reports produced as part of the local system reviews 

programme and will be followed by a national report for government that brings together key 

findings from across the 20 local system reviews. 

 

The review team 

 

Our review team was led by: 

 Lead reviewer: Deanna Westwood 

The team included: 

 One CQC Chief Inspector 

 Two CQC reviewers 

 Two CQC strategy leads 

 Two CQC analysts 

 Two CQC inspector 

 One CQC Expert by Experience 

 Four Specialist Advisors (one Local Government 

Association representative, one Director of Adult 

Social Services, one former Director of Adult Social 

Services, one Director of Public Health and one Nurse 

Clinical Governance Lead) 

Page 45

Agenda Item 14



                                          
  

Page | 2 

 

How we carried out the review 

 

The local system review considered system performance along a number of ‘pressure points’ on 

a typical pathway of care with a focus on older people aged over 65. 

 

We also focussed on the interfaces between social care, general medical practice, acute and 

community health services, and on delayed transfers of care from acute hospital settings. 

 

Using specially developed key lines of enquiry, we reviewed how the local system was 

functioning within and across three key areas: 

1. Maintaining the wellbeing of a person in their usual place of residence  

2. Crisis management  

3. Step down, return to usual place of residence and/ or admission to a new place of 

residence  

 

Across these three areas, detailed in the report, we asked the questions: 

 Is it safe? 

 Is it effective? 

 Is it caring? 

 Is it responsive? 

 

We then looked across the system to ask: 

 Is it well led? 

 

Prior to visiting the local area we developed a local data profile containing analysis of a range of 

information available from national data collections as well as CQC’s own data. We asked the 

local area to provide an overview of their health and social care system in a bespoke System 

Overview Information Request (SOIR) and asked a range of other local stakeholder 

organisations for information.  

 

We also developed two online feedback tools; a relational audit to gather views on how 

relationships across the system were working, and an information flow tool to gather feedback 

on the flow of information when older people are discharged from secondary care services into 

adult social care.  

 

During our visit to the local area we sought feedback from a range of people involved in shaping 

and leading the system, those responsible for directly delivering care as well as people who use 

services, their families and carers. The people we spoke with included: 

Page 46



                                          
  

Page | 3 

 

 System leaders from Wiltshire Council (the local authority), Wiltshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group (the CCG), Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust, Royal United Hospitals 

Bath NHS Foundation Trust, Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Avon and 

Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership Trust, Wiltshire Health and Care LLP (WHC), the chair 

of the Health and Wellbeing Board (the HWB) and other elected members. 

 Health and social care professionals including; social services staff, nursing and clinical 

staff, occupational and speech and language therapists, GPs, and health and social care 

commissioners. 

 Healthwatch Wiltshire and voluntary, community and social enterprise sector (VCSE) 

services  

 Independent social care provider representatives  

 People using services, their families and carers at a Music for the Mind Group, a carers’ 

support centre and an extra care housing scheme. 

 

We reviewed 18 care and treatment records and visited six services in the local area including 

acute hospitals, intermediate care facilities, care homes and an extra care service. 

 

 

  

Page 47



                                          
  

Page | 4 

 

  The Wiltshire context   

  

 

Demographics 

 18% of the population is aged 65 and 

over 

 97% of the population identifies as 

white 

 Wiltshire is in the 20% least deprived 

local authorities in England  

 

Adult Social Care 

 145 active residential care homes: 

o Four rated outstanding 

o 99 rated good 

o 31 rated requires improvement 

o One rated inadequate 

o 10 currently unrated 

 52 active nursing care homes: 

o Three rated outstanding 

o 21 rated good 

o 22 rated requires improvement 

o One rated inadequate 

o Five currently unrated 

 83 active domiciliary care agencies: 

o One rated outstanding 

o 46 rated good 

o 17 rated requires improvement 

o 19 currently unrated 

 

GP Practices 

 49 active locations: 

o Seven rated outstanding 

o 40 rated good 

o Two currently unrated 

 

 

 

 

Acute and community healthcare 

Hospital admissions (elective and non-

elective) of people of all ages living in 

Wiltshire were to the following NHS acute 

hospital trusts: 

 Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust  

o Received 34% of admissions of 

people living in Wiltshire 

o Admissions from Wiltshire made up 

68% of the trust’s total admission 

activity 

o Rated requires improvement overall 

 Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS 

Foundation Trust 

o Received 32% of admissions of 

people living in Wiltshire 

o Admissions from Wiltshire made up 

43% of the trust’s total admission 

activity 

o Rated requires improvement overall 

 Great Western Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust 

o Received 22% of admissions of 

people living in Wiltshire  

o Admissions from Wiltshire made up 

29% of the trust’s total admission 

activity 

o Rated requires improvement overall 

 

Community services are provided by: 

 Wiltshire Health and Care LLP 

o Rated good overall 
 

  

  All ratings as at 01/12/2017. Admissions percentages from 2016/17 Hospital Episode Statistics.  
  

      

Page 48



                                          
  

Page | 5 

 

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

  

Map one (above): Population of Wiltshire 

shaded by proportion aged 65+.  

Also, current location rating of acute and 

community NHS healthcare organisations 

serving Wiltshire.  

Map two (left): Location of Wiltshire LA within 

B&NES, Swindon and Wiltshire STP.  

NHS Wiltshire CCG is also highlighted. 

Page 49



                                          
  

Page | 6 

 

Summary of findings  

 

Is there a clear shared and agreed purpose, vision and strategy for health and social 

care? 

 Although there was a shared vision across health and social care which described the 

importance of preventative support that would enable people to stay healthy for longer, this 

had not translated into to joint strategic developments and operational delivery. The vision 

for Wiltshire was articulated in the Better Care Plan which was developed in 2014. It was 

widely shared across the county and people who lived in Wiltshire, together with 

stakeholders such as VCSE organisations and the independent provider market, 

understood the vision. There was a lack of pace with regards to delivering the vision and 

shifting leadership and priorities within health and social services. As a result, all the groups 

of people we spoke with expressed frustration that that the vision had not been applied to 

bring about change.  

 

 There was no alignment between the STP and the health and wellbeing plan with little buy-

in to the STP from Wiltshire Council’s elected members. While some organisations within 

the Wiltshire health and social care system supported the STP, others did not see any value 

in engaging with the overarching plan. 

 

 There were some individual strategies in place such as the dementia strategy, although this 

was four years old at the time of our review and this and other strategies were not aligned 

to an overarching vision.  

 

 Organisations within the system had planned a focus on their immediate needs and 

improving their own ways of working. System leaders told us that they would be able to 

reshape the vision once this work had been done. However, this approach bore a risk that 

the vision would then have to fit around existing systems rather than shaping the system 

around a joint vision.  

 

 There had been some progress in terms of building relationships within the health and 

social care system through the interim leadership in place at the time of our review. 

However the churn of leadership and a succession of interim posts was compromising the 

shared direction and pace of change. Many people we spoke with across all sectors and 

levels described the succession of interim leaders as a barrier to developing a vision and 

agreed strategic and operational plans. People we spoke with had been optimistic about the 

interim leaders of the CCG and local authority, and felt that relationships were improving 

however two weeks after our review the interim DASS left the local authority and the 

Director of Public Health was appointed as the new interim DASS. This came at a difficult 

Page 50



                                          
  

Page | 7 

 

time for the local authority as, at the time of our review, the Director of Public Health was 

managing a major incident at Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust and Wiltshire had been 

affected by severe weather conditions.  

 

 Although there were plans to appoint a joint corporate director/accountable officer, leading 

the CCG and local authority adult social services, the leadership of services in the 

meantime by interim roles meant that stability and authority of service leadership could be 

undermined. The scope of the joint post and what it was expected to deliver was not clearly 

defined at the time of our review. The management structure that would be required to 

support the joint post had also not been defined. 

 

 There was a positive and proactive programme for the transformation of adult social care 

particularly around prevention, reablement and safeguarding. There was an 

acknowledgement, including from partners that this was an important step enabling the 

local authority to address immediate pressures but this needed to support the next phase of 

integration. It will be important to ensure that opportunities to shape integration at an earlier 

stage – for example reablement and Home First – are not missed.  

 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) was well-established with the majority of key 

partners involved. However the HWB was operating very much as a formal council 

committee with public meetings taking place on a bi-monthly basis. There were not 

opportunities for leaders to meet outside the formal settings of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and the joint commissioning board to formulate direction and have opportunities to 

challenge and plan. There was not a clear forum for the local authority and CCG to work 

together and there was not a forum for providers including GPs, acute, mental health 

providers, social care providers and the voluntary sector to come together to shape the 

future delivery of integrated care. 

 

 Energy and commitment had gone into the creation of the community health provider, 

Wiltshire Health and Care (WHC) and this created a strong platform to develop integration 

of community, health and social care on a locality footprint. 

 

Is there a clear framework for interagency collaboration? 

 There was not a clear framework for partners to work together on a routine basis at 

operational level. The alignment of services around the three localities provided a good 

opportunity to move this forward.  

 

 Frontline staff wanted to work together in an integrated way. We found instances where 

people were relying on relationships to improve outcomes for people who use services 

Page 51



                                          
  

Page | 8 

 

however this was not evident across the system. There was a clear message from frontline 

staff that a well-defined operational framework supported by a strategy would enable them to 

develop interagency collaboration further. While the direction of travel around the three 

localities was broadly agreed, the route map for operational delivery was still unclear.  

 

 There were opportunities through the work being done with the localities to ensure that 

community support through Local Area Boards, GPs and community co-ordinators could be 

joined up to reduce duplication and provide clearer preventative pathways. There was a 

further opportunity to explore how the planned development of community care hubs could 

align to other services to provide integrated support in the community.  

 

 Integrated discharge teams in the hospitals worked effectively to define the pathway of care 

out of hospital and to begin that process. However at the next stage of the person’s journey 

there was a lack of integrated working between services which contributed to delays.  

 

 Performance data was very good at describing past performance to the system but it was 

not clear how it could be used to describe the current position and direct work to relieve 

system pressures. There was reliance on daily calls and engagement and although this 

provided a more accurate picture it was resource intensive and there needed to be some 

robust cross system processes for sharing live data on real-time performance.  

 

How are interagency processes delivered? 

 Interagency processes were not embedded across the system and we found that 

interagency working was dependent on local relationships. For example, there was no 

alignment of GP communities and local wellbeing boards. Despite there being few formal 

joint working processes, many frontline staff told us that their teams worked collaboratively 

owing to knowing each other personally rather than via a systematic approach. 

 

 The Wiltshire Integrated Command Centre (WICC) was managed by Wiltshire Health and 

Care to provide a single place where intelligence on capacity and flow in the system was 

centralised and allow the system to respond to multiple system pressures. Wiltshire Health 

and Care had been established as a limited liability partnership (LLP). This provided a legal 

framework for its existing activity but also for the future development of an integrated care 

model. At the time of our review, the partnership’s focus was on achieving greater 

consistency of practice across the organisation. There were missed opportunities for all 

parts of the system to share learning and develop this approach together. 

 

 There was effective interagency working between the VCSE sector and hospital services in 

emergency departments to help people to avoid admission and return home safely. 

Page 52



                                          
  

Page | 9 

 

 

What are the experiences of frontline staff? 

 Frontline staff were committed to achieving the best outcomes for people and were 

genuinely caring in their approach. We saw that there was some frustration that they could 

not always function in the integrated way that they would like, and it was clear that they 

would support the development of integrated services. 

 

 Sometimes the support that staff provided to people was more traditional and some work 

was needed to help staff fully understand what a strength-based approach would look like. 

For example, one person who was receiving palliative care wanted to go home with a care 

package which they could fund themselves, but operational staff insisted that the person be 

assessed for a number of other services before eventually agreeing with the person’s initial 

wishes. This delayed their discharge in the last few months of their life by a number of 

weeks. System leaders recognised that work was needed to help staff better understand 

person-centred care and opportunities for people to make their own decisions. In October 

2017, a staff conference was held to support staff with a better understanding of this. Staff 

from a wide range of health and social professions attended but there was a missed 

opportunity to include staff from the independent care and VCSE sectors.  

 

What are the experiences of people receiving services?  

 People were able to access a number of services in the community to prevent social 

isolation and when they came into contact with services through their GPs there was good 

support from them to access other services and sign-posting. They were helped to stay well 

at home for as long as possible.  

 

 However, people sometimes had difficulties accessing services directly, particularly people 

who funded their own care. Health, social care and social services staff provided support in 

a caring way however people often had to tell their stories many times as different 

professionals required different assessments, rather than using a single assessment 

approach.  

 

 There was a risk that people could experience delays when being discharged from hospital. 

There was a shortage of care provision to support people at home. People who were at the 

end of their lives were not prioritised in terms of receiving a package of care. 

 

 

  

Page 53



                                          
  

Page | 10 

 

Are services in Wiltshire well led? 

Is there a shared clear vision and credible strategy which is understood across health 

and social care interface to deliver high quality care and support? 

 

As part of this review we looked at the strategic approach to delivery of care across the interface 

of health and social care. This included strategic alignment across the system, joint working, 

interagency and multidisciplinary working and the involvement of people who use services, their 

families and carers. 

 

There was a shared vision across health and social care which described the importance of 

preventative support that would enable people to stay healthy for longer. However, this had not 

translated into joint strategic developments and operational delivery. The vision was articulated 

in the Better Care Plan which was developed in 2014. It was widely shared across the county 

and people who lived in Wiltshire, together with stakeholders such as the VCSE sector and the 

independent provider market, understood the vision. Although system leaders relied on the 

Better Care Plan to articulate their vision, in practice it was not being delivered as the CCG and 

local authority were developing their own transformation programmes. There were some limited 

joint strategies but not a coherent strategic approach.  

 

There was reliance on a new joint post of CCG accountable officer and Director of Adult Social 

Services but this was not clearly defined and there was an expectation that this post would 

develop the integration of services that were already going through a period of transformation.  

 

There was a lack of stability at system leader level with the DASS and the CCG Chief Officer 

both interim. In the local authority in particular, leadership was not stable as the role of the chief 

executive was undertaken by corporate directors on a rotational basis and many of the key 

operational leadership roles in adult social care were also interim. 

 

Strategy, vision and partnership working 

System leaders had a vision for the delivery of services in Wiltshire and across primary and 

secondary health, and social care services there was agreement that there should be a focus 

on preventative services that enabled people living in Wiltshire to stay healthy for longer. 

However, this vision was not clearly articulated across, or within, the health and social care 

organisations. When we spoke with representatives of people who use services in carers’ 

groups, the VCSE sector and independent provider organisations, people told us that a vision 

for Wiltshire had been unveiled some years ago but they expressed disappointment that it had 

not, to their knowledge, contributed to the transformation of services; they felt that it was 

difficult to engage with plans about the future as they did not always come to fruition. 

 

Page 54



                                          
  

Page | 11 

 

We heard concerns about the functioning of the Health and Wellbeing Board. It was not 

perceived as a driver for change and was dominated by the local authority. It did not 

demonstrate effective system working. Although stakeholder partners attended the Health and 

Wellbeing Board meetings, they did not feel listened to. There was a joint commissioning board 

that met monthly but we heard that the clinical input into these meetings was not effective. 

 

 There was not a clear system-wide strategy in Wiltshire. The Better Care Plan of 2014 

described joined up services and integrated working across organisations with priorities 

which included supporting people to receive care at home and reducing delayed discharges 

of care from hospital. However, at the time of our review the CCG and the local authority 

were moving towards the transformation of services within their own organisations and it 

was not clear how their activity aligned to the Better Care Plan. Although leaders recognised 

that it was necessary to transform services to improve the experience of people’s care and 

to make better use of resources, they were not supported by a joined-up overarching 

strategy that would enable integration to be delivered at pace.  

 

 Leaders in health and social care organisations told us that there was a strategic focus on 

developing their own organisations before they could look at wider integration. This meant 

that there were missed opportunities to look at shared priorities and gaps in resources and 

design joint solutions. Senior leaders in the acute trusts and the community partnership also 

had visions and plans for their own organisations.  

 

 System leaders had recognised that integration of health and social care services should be 

a priority and there were plans in place to appoint a joint CCG Accountable Officer and local 

authority Director of Adult Social Services towards the end of 2018. There was a risk, with 

the CCG and local authority undergoing their own programmes of transformation, that by the 

time the joint post was filled, there would be two systems running alongside each other, and 

potential for duplication of resource and a disjointed pathway of care for older people. The 

remit of the joint post and the underpinning structure was not clearly defined; this would be 

important to the post’s success because of the significant statutory responsibilities that sit 

across both organisations.  

 

 We undertook a relational audit that asked people to rate a set of 35 statements from 

‘consistently true’ to ‘consistently not true’. Across health and social care, 131 people 

responded from provider and commissioner organisations as well as the VCSE sector. Their 

responses reflected the impact of the lack of overarching strategy and one of the bottom five 

scoring statements was “We plan and implement change together, leading to understanding 

of the wider impact on other parts of the local system”. 

 

Page 55



                                          
  

Page | 12 

 

 Frontline health and social care staff and people working in the VCSE and independent care 

sectors told us that the changes in system leadership impacted on their ability to deliver 

strategies. At the time of our review, both the Director of Adult Social Services and the Chief 

Officer of the CCG were interim and there had been numerous changes in leadership in 

recent years. We heard that relationships between the CCG and the local authority had 

been difficult although under the interim leaders in post at the time of our review there had 

been improvements. The relational audit showed that senior executives appeared to rate the 

health of their relationships less positively than those who identified as having a different 

primary role. 

 

 An “emergent’’ Sustainability and Transformation Plan’ (STP) for Bath and Northeast 

Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire was published in December 2016. Although there were 

priorities in the plan that we recognised in the local area’s health and social care services, 

such as integration, prevention and workforce development, the plan was focused on health 

services. For example, the work around integration was based around primary care services 

and we heard that at the time of our review, the local authority was developing an integrated 

community model that was not aligned to GP localities.  

 

 System leaders in health organisations had mixed views regarding the usefulness and 

purpose of the STP, with leaders from the CCG and one acute trust very much engaged 

with it while others did not see it as a driver for change. Initially there was little engagement 

from the local authority and we were told that the STP had been focused on the acute 

sector, however at the time of our review a Wiltshire County Council cabinet member was 

vice chair which enabled the local authority to be more involved in the development of the 

STP.  

 

 The STP plan did not describe an active strategy for driving integration in the local areas. 

For example, priorities around prevention did not consider the role that social services 

played and how this could be better utilised. The STP stated a commitment to the 

integration of health and social care delivery however it did not shape a strategy for this. It 

described plans at a local level and stated that in Wiltshire there was a “well-established” 

Better Care Plan. This joint health and social care plan was published in 2014; as this 

predated the STP by two years there was not clear strategic alignment of the two plans.  

 

 System leaders were not yet using the Better Care Fund (BCF) and the Improved Better 

Care Fund (iBCF) effectively to jointly shape services to reduce admissions to and improve 

discharges from, hospital. There were more than 50 separate schemes linked to the BCF. 

There had been investment in services such as Home First and Help to Live at Home but 

there had been very little investment in preventative services. The only joint funding through 

Page 56



                                          
  

Page | 13 

 

the iBCF was spent on carers and there was a sense among system leaders that the strands 

of activity were operated quite separately across health and social care, with much of the 

fund going into protecting rather than transforming services. 

 

Involvement of service users, families and carers in the development of strategy and 

services 

 We saw that there was strong engagement with people who live in Wiltshire in terms of 

shaping priorities. The JSNA had been based on work with local communities through the 

local area boards and there were individual community plans. However, we did not see that 

work with people who used services included co-production in terms of the design and 

delivery of services. 

 

 We saw that there had been an extensive programme gathering the views of people who 

used services about their health and social care needs and these were shared with system 

leaders to ensure an understanding of the impact of services on people’s daily lives. 

 

 Healthwatch Wiltshire was well-established and served as a voice for people using services. 

They engaged with local people around a series of thematic reviews that were 

commissioned by the local authority. 

 

Promoting a culture of interagency and multidisciplinary working  

 Views from staff about the culture of interagency and multidisciplinary working were mixed. 

There was a clear will across all organisations to improve and to work more effectively 

together however there was not a consistent strategic approach to this. Staff we spoke with 

told us that integrated activity took place when frontline staff worked to achieve it, but they 

felt that without strategic support it was not sustainable. 

 

 There had been difficulties in relationships between primary care services, the local authority 

and the CCG. Although we heard that there was discussion at the Health and Wellbeing 

Board we also heard that there was a fear of challenging leadership. Leaders stated that 

there had been a lack of transparency. We saw that disputes about continuing healthcare 

had impacted on relationships and this was reported at the CCG Audit and Assurance 

Committee meeting January 2018. At the time of the review, the CCG and the local authority 

had been unable to agree a dispute resolution protocol and the committee reported that 

although relationships had been improving, the disputes had resulted in strain. In the 

meantime, this meant that disputes about funding could not be resolved as partners were 

reliant on agreeing a protocol before addressing these. There was a risk that people might 

not be receiving the care they needed while disputes about funding remained unresolved. 

We heard concerns that while the CCG was developing its 14 localities there was not 

Page 57



                                          
  

Page | 14 

 

effective social care input.  

 

 We heard that although there were pockets of interagency working, there was scope to 

improve communication between services and better support staff to undertake joint 

problem-solving to enable people to stay at home safely for longer. The Wiltshire 

Safeguarding Adults Board (WSAB) had recently completed two safeguarding adults 

reviews which were due to be published in April 2018. Two older people had died in different 

circumstances and their deaths might have been prevented. Among the recommendations 

of the WSAB, a need for a lead worker role was identified, and an agreed approach to 

shared care planning, when multiple agencies are working with an individual at risk. The 

board stated that a multiagency approach was required for managing risk in adults with care 

and support needs.1 

 

 There were some existing pockets of good practice. Care coordinators linked to GP 

practices supported people who were at risk of ill-health or losing their independence to 

access services which would enable them to avoid social isolation and hospital admission. 

Some care coordinators attended multidisciplinary team meetings and supported people on 

their journey through services, including hospital. However there was variation in how the 

role operated as it was not clearly defined, with some care coordinators employed by the 

community health provider and some directly by GPs. The benefits of this role could be 

more consistently applied across the county if there was a clear and defined remit. 

 

Learning and improvement across the system 

 We were told that the Health and Wellbeing Board was committed to continuous 

improvement and had participated in peer challenges. However, they did not demonstrate 

how learning from the peer challenges was disseminated and acted upon and there was not 

a culture of appreciative enquiry. System leaders and frontline staff agreed that 

communication could be better across the system to enable sharing of best practice. Staff 

described that across Wiltshire there was some good work in place but this wasn’t linked to 

a system-wide approach. We observed this in focus groups where staff working in different 

parts of the county were unaware of initiatives undertaken by colleagues.  

 

 We heard from independent providers that there was a lack of feedback following 

safeguarding referrals which meant that they could not determine whether the referrals were 

appropriate and if there was any learning to be taken from them. Safeguarding leads were 

                                            

1
 Health and Wellbeing Board Agenda papers 29 March 2018 

Page 58



                                          
  

Page | 15 

 

aware of this and a new multi-agency adults safeguarding team (MASH) was due to be in 

place at the beginning of May 2018; we were told that this would enable more prompt 

feedback to referrers. Following the safeguarding adults reviews, learning events had been 

held to support better understanding of safeguarding. Learning needs in areas such as the 

Mental Capacity Act 2005 had been identified and training was being rolled out. Frontline 

staff were positive about the difference that the safeguarding work had made and told us 

they would like to see greater transparency across the system. 

 

What impact is governance of the health and social care interface having on quality of 

care across the system? 

 

We looked at the governance arrangements within the system, focusing on collaborative 

governance, information governance and effective risk sharing. 

 

We found that although there was a clear governance framework in place, in practice it did not 

enable robust system-wide challenge and monitoring. The Joint Commissioning Board was 

focused on particular areas that had pooled budget arrangements and the Integration Board was 

newly formed and had not yet had an opportunity to influence the strategic governance of the 

iBCF. 

 

Information sharing was under-developed. Although there was a shared IT system between 

primary care providers and the community healthcare provider, there was a lack of sign up from 

some GP practices to information sharing which meant the benefits of a joint system were lost. 

Risk sharing was complicated by the development of three A&E delivery boards. Although the 

Wiltshire CCG led on only one of those, Wiltshire residents would be impacted by the 

governance processes of the other two that sat just outside Wiltshire boundaries. 

 

Overarching governance arrangements 

 There was a three-tier structure for governance of the health and social care system in 

Wiltshire. It was headed by three local governance groups: the Health and Wellbeing Board, 

the Wiltshire Cabinet and the Wiltshire CCG Governing Body. They had shared oversight of 

the Joint Commissioning Board and the Integration and Better Care Board, along with 

Children Trust Commissioning. The Wiltshire CCG Governing Body had oversight of the 

Primary Care Commissioning Board, the Clinical Executive and three A&E delivery boards.  

 

 These arrangements had not proved straightforward. For example, the Joint Commissioning 

Board had oversight of strategies that were managed jointly such as the Dementia Strategy 

and Carers Strategy but it had not worked effectively to manage commissioning 

arrangements for the implementation of the Better Care Fund Plan. This had been 

recognised and an Integration Board had been put in place. The Integration Board was very 

Page 59



                                          
  

Page | 16 

 

new at the time of our review and had not had an opportunity to develop relationships and 

governance infrastructure. Although the Joint Commissioning Board did meet regularly we 

heard that there was no significant clinical input into those meetings as stakeholder partners 

outside the local authority did not feel listened to, or able to challenge.  

 

 Wiltshire was part of an STP which also included Swindon, Bath and North East Somerset. 

Although the Accountable Officer for the CCG sat on the STP board, the local authority was 

represented by the elected leader. While it was useful for elected members of Wiltshire 

Council to engage with and influence the strategic direction of the STP, there was a missed 

opportunity for system leaders in the local authority to be involved in shaping joint solutions 

for the region based on their operational knowledge of resources and pressure points.  

 

 There were 18 local area boards with devolved executive functions from the local authority 

and they were able to engage with people to identify local priorities which fed into the JSNA. 

However there was a lack of clarity about how these fitted in with the wider health and social 

care system including the 14 health localities.  

 

Risk sharing across partners  

 Risk sharing across partners was not well established and although relationships were 

improving, there was a lack of transparency in the system that adversely impacted on risk 

sharing and robust risk mitigation. There were three A&E delivery boards, one for each 

acute trust, and the Wiltshire CCG led the A&E delivery board in Salisbury as this fell within 

CCG boundaries. System leaders described this arrangement as complex however they felt 

that they were “able to work with it”.  

 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board monitored winter pressures but there were missed 

opportunities to engage with the wider provider market in winter planning. For example, 

independent care home providers told us that a number of beds had been commissioned to 

meet anticipated increased demand during the winter period however commissioners had 

block booked beds that were not being utilised.  

 

 Not all risks identified were recorded on the corporate risk register. For example, the home 

care mobilisation plan was identified as a significant risk, but this was not cited on the 

corporate risk register. 

 

Information governance arrangements across the system 

 Information management and governance was organisationally based and there were not 

clear processes for sharing information at system level or operational level. There was still a 

traditional and siloed approach to information sharing and this reflected that organisations 

Page 60



                                          
  

Page | 17 

 

were not working as one system. Although we acknowledge the importance of good 

information governance, professional silos around protection of information meant that staff 

were not focusing on the needs of the individual moving through the pathway.  

 

 There were three different hospital information systems. GPs and the community provider 

used SystmOne and the three hospitals could access information from SystmOne through 

viewers. Social workers used CareFirst, as separate system, however the contract with 

CareFirst was due to end in March 2018 and the local authority was exploring options in line 

with the digital strategy. Information sharing from social care systems was being facilitated 

through a ‘Single View’ project which was designed to enable information sharing across 

most aspects of the local authority’s business such as council tax and refuse collection, and 

including adult social care. This was in its early stages at the time of our review. Hospital 

staff we spoke with did not describe this and some frontline staff told us they could not 

access information when they needed it. 

 

 All primary care services and Wiltshire Health and Care were using SystmOne which 

facilitated information sharing, but there was a low sign up from GPs to the sharing of 

information. The system required GPs to obtain patient consent for records to be shared and 

GPs were not always signed up to this. There was a risk when the out-of-hours provider 

moves to a new system, information will not be shared between the out-of-hours service and 

GPs which may mean that more people will be referred to A&E owing to a lack of access to 

relevant information.  

 

To what extent is the system working together to develop its health and social care 

workforce to meet the needs of its population? 

 

We looked at how the system is working together to develop its health and social care 

workforce, including the strategic direction and efficient use of the workforce resource. 

 

We found that system leaders recognised workforce pressures as a significant risk; however 

despite some proactive work at STP level with the support of Health Education England, there 

was not a strong strategic local focus. The local authority and CCG were not working together or 

with the independent sector to develop solutions. Staff turnover and vacancies in the 

independent adult social care sector had risen sharply although the staff turnover rate was lower 

in two of the three hospitals that Wiltshire residents used. Although solutions were being sought 

these were not proactively driven and managed.  

 

 

System level workforce planning  

Page 61



                                          
  

Page | 18 

 

 There was no strategic workforce plan for Wiltshire and the connections between the STP 

and Wiltshire were rudimentary. The CCG and the local authority had representatives on the 

STP workforce action board, but they did not work closely together.  

  

 System leaders told us in their response to the SOIR that workforce was recognised as the 

most significant issue facing Wiltshire. Capacity and skills development were described as 

an “enabler” within the STP and a work group was focused on this, with support from Health 

Education England. Although the governance structure was in place at STP level, and work 

looking at planning across the STP system partners had begun, it was still at an early stage 

of development.  

 

 The workforce development lead (joint for the CCG and local authority) took reports 

regarding workforce strategy to the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Joint 

Commissioning Board to ensure that they were updated with issues and actions. These 

updates were well received by the boards but, given that workforce was described as a 

significant issue, we did not see how the reports were used to hold organisations to account 

with regard to workforce development or drive forward the workforce development agenda.  

 

Developing a skilled and sustainable workforce 

 The turnover rate of staff in the adult social care sector had sharply increased in 2015/16 

and at 34% was higher than the England average of 27.8% and the comparator average of 

30.5%. Although the vacancy rate had risen from 3.8% in 2013/14 to 6.8% in 2015/16, it was 

at the time of our review in line with the comparator average of 6.9% and slightly above the 

England average of 6.6%.  

 

 The Wiltshire Workforce Action Group had developed a website, ‘Proud to Care’, but we 

heard that there was no clear partnership agreement of how this work would be taken 

forward. We tested the website and could see that to be effective it required further 

development. It was directed at encouraging care workers (sometimes referred to on the 

website as carers, which could cause confusion with people in unpaid caring roles) and 

provided links to the CCG, hospitals and local authority jobs sites. It was not clear from using 

the links how the advertised jobs related to the ‘Proud to Care’ website. There was a further 

missed opportunity given the shortage of care workers in the independent social care sector, 

to enable independent providers to link to the website.  

 

 There was an initiative to develop workforce through apprenticeships across the STP 

footprint including funding support from Health Education England, and further positive 

initiatives to share training across health and social care. Some of this, such as health 

coaching and dementia awareness, was funded by the Better Care Fund (BCF).  

Page 62



                                          
  

Page | 19 

 

 

 System leaders needed to ensure that the profile of workforce pressures was raised with 

stakeholder partners. For example, the workforce lead had drafted a letter to the Local 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP) via the Health and Wellbeing Board to request that health and 

care be included as one of the areas within its apprenticeship programme. No response had 

been received nor any action followed up. 

 

 

Is commissioning of care across the health and social care interface, demonstrating a 

whole system approach based on the needs of the local population? How do leaders 

ensure effective partnership and joint working across the system to plan and deliver 

services? 

 

We looked at the strategic approach to commissioning and how commissioners were providing a 

diverse and sustainable market in commissioning of health and social care services. 

 

We found that joint strategic commissioning was underdeveloped, particularly around the use of 

the BCF and iBCF. There had been some arrangements put in place, such as the formation of 

the Wiltshire Health and Care LLP, which could drive forward the delivery of integrated services; 

however this was not yet being used to its full potential. Although there were fewer services 

rated as inadequate, the care home and domiciliary care market overall was still of a lower 

quality standard than similar areas and commissioners needed to take a more proactive 

approach in improving the quality of services for people in Wiltshire. Contract management was 

underdeveloped and large contracts were at risk owing to a lack of collaboration between 

providers and commissioners. 

 

 

 

Strategic approach to commissioning 

 

 At the time of our review, joint commissioning was not well developed and system leaders 

agreed that it was limited. Although there was an ambition to develop this further the CCG 

and local authority were focused on dealing with their own financial issues and problems. 

The Joint Commissioning Board focused on strands of activity that were already jointly 

commissioned such as the Carers Strategy and the Dementia Strategy. There were also 

aligned budgets for carers’ services and drug and alcohol services with aligned 

commissioning arrangements for intermediate care beds, community equipment, voluntary 

sector services and acute liaison services to support hospital discharge.  

Page 63



                                          
  

Page | 20 

 

 

 Wiltshire had a Better Care Plan which was devised in 2014. There was not an updated 

strategic plan for the health and social care system. System leaders told us in the SOIR that 

joint commissioning structures and staffing arrangements had been developed for a range 

of discharge and intermediate care schemes which form the Better Care Plan. They told us 

that there were advanced discussions to recruit to a joint accountable officer and corporate 

director for Adult Social Services. This would be managed within a section 75 agreement, 

allowing services to be commissioned in an integrated manner.  

 

 There were missed opportunities to jointly commission solutions such as packages of care 

at home, the lack of which was the largest cause of delayed discharges. Home First was a 

reablement service provided for 10 days by the community health partnership following 

discharge from hospital. After the 10 days reablement, it was intended that people would 

transfer to a new in-house reablement service which was due to transition from contracted 

services during the period of May to September 2018. This meant that people were 

transitioning between services and this could be streamlined. There was a lack of trust and 

transparency and this was highlighted when one of the benefits of bringing reablement in-

house was described as “an ability to challenge any over-prescription of care by acute NHS 

colleagues and reduce demand for care at the point of hospital discharge”. People in 

Wiltshire would be served better if system leaders worked together at an earlier stage to 

determine criteria for people who would benefit from reablement.  

 

 There was not a cohesive plan for the use of the BCF and iBCF, which provided an 

opportunity to develop integrated services; the BCF had been utilised to develop more than 

50 different projects. The interim Director of Adult Social Services and the CCG Chief 

Officer had recognised this shortfall and appointed a portfolio delivery manager to 

rationalise the plans and align them to the high impact change model.  

 

Market shaping 

 Pressures on reablement services were recognised by system leaders and they planned to 

bring the reablement service in-house. This would be a significant mobilisation of services 

in a short period of time; we were not assured that there were contingencies in place should 

risks materialise, particularly owing to workforce challenges in Wiltshire.  

 

 System leaders recognised that that market shaping and quality assurance required 

development. A market intelligence team had been put in place and the quality surveillance 

group focused on the quality of the care home market. Work was still needed to develop 

services in Wiltshire although CQC inspectors in Wiltshire told us that there had been 

improvements. 

Page 64



                                          
  

Page | 21 

 

 

 Providers were not involved in the shaping of services. Some providers attended the Joint 

Commissioning Board meetings and the Health and Wellbeing Board. However, VCSE 

providers and independent health and social care providers were not engaged and their 

expertise was not used to develop market proposals.  

 

 Social care providers told us that there was a lack of understanding of the services they 

were able to provide and felt that they were not engaged in discussions about the future of 

services. In addition, social care providers faced particular challenges owing to the rural 

nature of the county which impacted on travel. This in turn could impact on timeliness of 

visits and the quality of the experience for the person using services.  

 

 CQC inspectors told us that their relationships with commissioners had improved and that 

there had been an improvement in quality monitoring of adult social care services. In March 

2017, two per cent of community support and domiciliary care services and three per cent 

of residential and nursing care services were rated as inadequate. In March 2018, there 

were no community support and domiciliary care services rated as inadequate and one per 

cent of residential and nursing care services were rated as inadequate. However, quality in 

the market needed to be improved further. Our data showed that the percentage of nursing 

homes rated as requires improvement was, at 42%, significantly higher than the comparator 

average of 33% and the England average of 25%. The percentage of services rated 

outstanding was also higher at 6% than the England average and comparator average of 

2%. Residential care home provision was also poorer with 21% of services rated as 

requires improvement compared to the England average of 15% and the comparator 

average of 13%. There were more domiciliary care providers requiring improvement with 

17% of domiciliary care providers rated as requires improvement compared to the England 

average of 11% and a comparator average of 11%.  

 

Commissioning the right support services to improve the interface between health and 

social care 

 There was no clear single strategic plan to address the interfaces between health and 

social care. Although system leaders advocated person-centred care and a strength based 

approach to delivery of services, they had not formally put operational plans in place to 

improve care provided at the interface. The Better Care Plan described a seamless 

transition between services based on support from a GP cluster approach. While there was 

good support for people from care coordinators working with GPs, the local authority was in 

the process of designing a community model that did align with the GP clusters. There was 

a risk that health and social care services would become more disjointed. 

 

Page 65



                                          
  

Page | 22 

 

 The creation of the Wiltshire Health and Care LLP (WHC) as a legal entity was key to the 

development of integrated services between health and social care. However, services 

were not yet being jointly commissioned to manage this. For example, WHC provided the 

Home First service which supported people with rehabilitation on their discharge from 

hospital. This service was available for ten days and then people would transfer to the local 

authority commissioned provider of reablement, which it was planning to bring in-house. 

This was a missed opportunity to provide an integrated service and the services were being 

developed independently within each organisation, albeit with a stated ambition to ensure 

alignment. 

 

 System leaders told us that there were 18 local area boards with devolved executive 

functions, and a local Health and Wellbeing Board with a dedicated budget for community 

based services as well as a dedicated champion for older people in the area. These forums 

used community area JSNAs and engaged on priorities and service changes. It was not 

clear how they interfaced with the 14 health localities. 

 

Contract oversight 

 We found that contract design and management was not robust. There was a variety of 

models in operation and no evidence of a systematic approach to evaluating different 

approaches. Contracts were awarded with a reliance on key performance indicators to 

demonstrate success rather than clear specifications about how the services would be 

delivered and how delivery would lead to success and improved outcomes for people.  

 

 We saw a number of examples where contracts failed and providers could not meet key 

indicators. We saw that although there were clear indicators around delivery there was no 

implementation support to enable providers to deliver services in a different way. For 

example, the patient transport service had been contracted to cover Wiltshire and three 

other CCG areas (Gloucester, Swindon and Bath and North East Somerset), but the 

provider could not meet the key performance indicators (KPIs) owing to demand.  

 

 There was acceptance by system leaders that KPIs were “unrealistic” and had not factored 

in the specific issues arising from the geography of Wiltshire, and issues such as peak 

times for discharges and appointments. As commissioners recognised this, they supported 

the provider by spot purchasing transport and one hospital had received funding to provide 

their own service. Although we were told that a single transport provider gave greater 

insight into the market regarding patient transport needs, this advantage was lost with the 

increase in funding other solutions.  

 

  A Help to Live at Home service was commissioned from domiciliary care providers to 

provide short-term reablement and ongoing care packages of care at home. The work at the 

Page 66



                                          
  

Page | 23 

 

time was seen as innovative as contracts for packages of care were intended to be 

outcome based rather than time and task based. Contracts were awarded to four providers 

across 14 geographical areas. At the time our review, contracts were only held with two 

providers who could not meet the demand on the service and there was a reliance on spot 

purchasing of care packages. A recent evaluation found that the spot purchased market 

had no commissioning performance framework or monitoring of outcomes which meant that 

the effectiveness of reablement could not be demonstrated. Following some serious 

concerns, the CQC had put an embargo in place with one provider in November 2014 and 

there were no commissioning contingencies to support new packages of care while this was 

in place.  
 

 A recent review of the Help to Live at Home contract showed that commissioners 

recognised that a new commissioning strategy must have contingencies in place to 

safeguard against provider failure. However, the reablement service was being brought in-

house to the local authority. This was planned as a phased approach so that people 

receiving reablement could continue with the existing provider and from May 2018, new 

packages of care would be delivered in-house. It was not clear that risks and contingencies 

had been identified, for example there was reliance on successful recruitment and transfer 

of staff across from provider organisations where the workforce was already challenged and 

system leaders did not demonstrate a clear understanding of the level of demand that 

would be placed on the service.  
 

 Social care providers told us that intermediate care therapy contracts were more successful 

because there was a more collaborative approach. They described the contract 

management process as more streamlined with clear contacts so that if there were 

concerns about the contract, providers could easily identify who they needed to speak with 

and found that there was a willingness to deal with issues as they arose in a productive and 

proactive way.  
 

How do system partners assure themselves that resources are being used to achieve 

sustainable high quality care and promoting peoples’ independence? 

 

We looked at resource governance and how systems assure themselves that resources are 

being used to achieve sustainable high-quality care and promote people’s independence. 

We found that resources were not being used to effect joint solutions to pressures in the system.  

 

The development of the BCF planning and work was in its early stages and had not been 

addressed in a joined up and systematic way. There was a risk to this being embedded as it was 

being led by an interim post holder. There were missed opportunities to improve governance 

structures across the system in ways that would enable funds to flow to pressure points in the 

Page 67



                                          
  

Page | 24 

 

system.  

 

 There was no proactive approach to the joint funding of health and social care across 

Wiltshire. Although there had previously been some discussion with the Health Scrutiny 

Committee about the total spend on health and social care in Wiltshire, this had not been 

developed into a proactive approach to the joint management of spend in the county. There 

was a risk of duplication in the use of resources and the lack of a more streamlined and 

transparent approach meant opportunities to explore options for savings were missed. 

 

 The local authority had updated their charging policy to reflect the national guidance and we 

heard that significant financial benefit had largely come from an improved process such as 

ensuring that people had up-to-date financial assessments. There had also been a positive 

initiative to support people to access benefits.  

 

 System leaders in the local authority did not always use funding effectively. While budgets 

were managed so that there were no overspends, money that could have been used to 

tackle reablement problems had been returned to Central Government. With a clearer 

governance structure around the commissioning of services across health and social care, 

budgets could be used more effectively to address pinch points in the system. 

 

 The BCF was being used to pump prime the ASC transformation agenda, including for 

example, the funding of a post that supported transformational change across adult social 

care and finance. When the iBCF was granted, the local authority developed a series of 

proposals which were shared with the CCG and WHC for discussion and agreement.  

 

 The BCF plan had been very late in its development with no clear ownership until shortly 

before our review. At the time of our review there were over 50 work streams aligned to the 

BCF. Although this described many pockets of joint work, there was no system-wide 

foundation to underpin this or a clear structure. System leaders had recognised this and 

employed a delivery lead to rationalise the different strands and an Integration Board had 

been set up. The focus of the board was on reducing delayed transfers of care (DTOC) 

which was a significant priority for Wiltshire but there needed to be wider work on system 

flow. The delivery lead was employed on an interim short-term contract, which posed 

another risk to achieving a more streamlined approach. 

  

 System leaders did not always look to other areas to learn from best practice in relation to 

the management of resources. For example, in Wiltshire DTOC were high but in a 

neighbouring authority they had decreased significantly. There was an opportunity to share 

learning as 30% of people living in Wiltshire used the same hospital as the neighbouring 

Page 68



                                          
  

Page | 25 

 

authority. 

  

Page 69



                                          
  

Page | 26 

 

Do services work together to keep people well and maintain them 

in their usual place of residence? 
Using specially developed key lines of enquiry, we reviewed how the local system is 

functioning within and across the key area: maintaining the wellbeing of a person in 

usual place of residence 

 

Are services in Wiltshire safe? 

People were supported to stay safely at home for as long as possible through the work of GPs 

and care coordinators. This enabled early warnings for people whose health may have been at 

risk of deteriorating. However, it was not always clear how these risks were managed once they 

were identified. Care coordinators supported people at risk of social isolation.  

 

The management of safeguarding referrals needed to be improved. This was being addressed 

with the provision of additional resources and the formation of a multi-agency safeguarding hub 

to take effect from May 2018. 

 

 GPs were key in supporting people to stay safe. GPs undertook risk stratification and 

system leaders told us that in their view this worked effectively. People were assessed 

when necessary using the Rockwood Clinical Frailty Scale to determine whether they would 

benefit from increased support and health monitoring. However we saw a case study that 

showed that although a person had been assessed and was identified as being at risk of 

falls, there was no clear action undertaken and they had multiple falls after the assessment, 

two of which resulted in attendance at A&E. 

 

 There were systems in place to identify people who were frail or who were at risk of 

deterioration in their health or social situation. GP surgeries were linked with care 

coordinators who played a key role in identifying concerns early on. For example, we saw 

that a care coordinator had become concerned about the potential financial abuse of an 

older person. They raised a safeguarding alert and proactively supported the person 

through their pathway of care, liaising with other services. Care coordinators also played a 

role in signposting people to community services, reducing the risk of social isolation. 

 

 We found GPs recognised the risks facing older people living in Wiltshire and that their 

interventions supported people to stay safe at home for as long as possible. Although there 

was not a consistent response from GPs if someone became unwell – for example some 

would prescribe without the need for a visit, some would do a home visit and some would 

send a district nurse – people told us that they could access support from GPs when they 

needed it. Care home providers told us that relationships with GPs were generally good and 

that their support was available when needed.  

Page 70



                                          
  

Page | 27 

 

 

 Although our data showed that there were no GPs in Wiltshire offering full provision of 

extended access, 98% offered partial provision of extended access compared to the 

England average of 61% and 70% average in comparator areas. Only 2% of GPs in 

Wiltshire did not offer any extended access, compared to the England average of 12% and 

14% in comparator areas. This meant that people could access pre-bookable appointments 

on at least one day of the week outside core contracted hours. CQC ratings showed that 

there were no GPs rated as inadequate or requires improvement, and 15% were rated 

outstanding, compared to the England average of 4% and 6% in comparator areas. 

 

 The impact of the support from GPs was reflected in the data which showed that the rate of 

A&E attendances and emergency admissions for older people in Wiltshire was lower than 

the England average. The rate of A&E attendances per 100,000 population aged over 65 

was 7,416 compared to the England rate of 10,534. The rate of emergency admissions per 

100,000 population aged over 65 was 19,998 compared to the England rate of 25,009. 

 

 People we spoke with told us that there had been some work in the past commissioned by 

the CCG to review people’s medicines so that people could be assured that they were 

taking the right dosages of the right medicines for them. However, this was described as 

having “fallen by the wayside” which meant that the health benefits for people living in 

Wiltshire were lost and there was a lost opportunity to reduce costs. 

 

 At the time of our review, system safeguarding processes were not always effective. We 

saw from a case study that although an alert was raised regarding potential financial abuse 

of an older person, there was a wait of five months before an investigation took place. In 

addition, we viewed an assessment of this person’s needs and were not assured that the 

safeguarding matter had been considered; the care plan involved the support of some 

people who were subject to the investigation. Although this was ultimately resolved, the 

delay in investigation and communication about the concerns may have placed this person 

at risk of harm. We were told that system leaders understood that safeguarding needed to 

be addressed and additional resources were being put in place to improve this with 

additional staff and business support. A multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) was being 

rolled out with the local authority, CCG and police as partners and was due to be 

implemented in May 2018. 

 

Are services in Wiltshire effective? 

There was a focus on designing and delivering services that would maintain people in their own 

homes. However, design and delivery of services were disjointed and developed in local pockets 

that did not promote wider system learning or consistency. GPs led on work to enable people to 

Page 71



                                          
  

Page | 28 

 

access community support and avoid hospital admissions with some innovative practice around 

the use of intermediate care beds in the east of the county. Staff missed opportunities to share 

good practice and there were no clear plans to promote skills that would enable integrated 

working although it was recognised as a need.  

 

Although older people living in Wiltshire had the opportunity to inform the assessment of local 

needs, they were not given opportunities to be involved in the further development of plans.  

 

 Services were intended to be holistic with support around the person to enable them to stay 

well at home. However we found that in many instances health and social care services 

worked separately. This included two separate “single” points of access. We viewed case 

studies where a number of professionals were involved in supporting people with different 

aspects of their lives, however from the case files we saw, and from people we spoke with, 

it was evident that people had to fit into the services available, rather than the services 

fitting around the person. The language of assessments and forms were professionalised 

and not easy for people who needed support to understand or navigate.  

 

 There was some good practice arising from different parts of the local authority working 

together. For example, a decision had been made to consider the eviction of a social 

housing tenant owing to odours and clutter from the person’s property which had caused 

neighbours to complain. The housing team contacted the adult social care team who were 

able to work with the person, which improved their health and quality of life and meant that 

the person did not lose their home. However interagency working between health and adult 

social care services needed to improve and one of the safeguarding adults reviews found 

that health and social care agencies had not shared information which meant that the 

person had not received the support they needed and subsequently died. 

 

 Our data showed that in 2016/17, 25.8% of people aged 65 or over who accessed long-

term adult social care in Wiltshire received direct payments. This was much higher than the 

England average of 17.6% and the comparator average of 16.5%. This enabled people to 

manage their own packages of care in the way that they chose. There was a lower uptake 

of personal health budgets, 2.07 per 50,000 population, compared to the England average 

of 5.82. System leaders told us in the system overview information return that they were 

working to increase this with the support of a VCSE organisation. 

 

 There had been significant consultation with people who lived in Wiltshire through the 18 

Local Area Boards, and this had been used to develop the JSNA. This helped the local 

authority to identify system priorities and showed that most of the communities had 

concerns about health and social care.  

Page 72



                                          
  

Page | 29 

 

 

 Elected council members told us that there would be a focus on universal services and 

support in the community, which they hoped would enable people to stay in their homes as 

long as possible. There was recognition that communities across the county would have 

different needs, however this meant that communities were developing services at their own 

pace without a clear strategic intent. For example, the CCG provided funding to GPs for a 

local enhanced service (LES) to care homes. This was at different stages across the 

county. Care home providers who received this service told us it worked well and that it 

enabled them to support people to remain out of hospital, while other areas of the county 

were still in transition. Although this was not fully embedded, data indicated that the LES 

was effective. 

 

 Avoidable admissions to hospital from care homes in Wiltshire were low compared to 

similar areas and the England average, and significantly lower with regard to admissions 

resulting from pneumonia. However the numbers of people admitted as a result of accident 

or injury was higher than similar areas and the England average. 

 

 There were plans to move adult social care contact centres from three localities to a single 

advice and contact team in May 2018, and these would include new information officer 

roles. This was expected to reduce the high rate of abandoned calls. However this 

development was limited to adult social services. System leaders told that a move towards 

better integration with the community health provider would improve the prevention focus 

but this wish had not been translated into plans for delivery.  

 

 Funding streams were available to encourage local services to develop preventative 

support for people in their areas. GPs were receiving the Transforming Care for Older 

People fund. It was their responsibility to put forward proposals to show how the use of the 

fund would improve outcomes for older people in their area and if the proposal was 

approved, the funds would be allocated. Better Care Fund money was used innovatively in 

the east of the county where GPs jointly commissioned intermediate care beds so that 

people could avoid hospital admission. This was coordinated by a single practice manager. 

However, when we spoke with commissioners, those who commissioned intermediate care 

beds in other parts of the county were not aware of this arrangement, which meant an 

opportunity to share learning and resources had been missed. 

 

 The relationships between care homes and the local pharmacies were also seen as key to 

keeping people safe and reducing hospital admissions. However these relationships were 

not formal and were dependent on individual care workers making contact with the 

pharmacies. 

Page 73



                                          
  

Page | 30 

 

 

 Frontline staff told us that people were more likely to be admitted to hospital out-of-hours 

when their own GP was not available. They said that they had seen some improvement 

when an independent provider took on the out-of-hours contract, however this provider 

could not access people’s GP records which meant that they did not always have the 

information they needed to support people to stay at home. The out-of-hours provider was 

unable to access support from district nurses after 10pm or palliative care teams after 9pm 

which again meant that people might be admitted to hospital when they could be better 

supported at home.  

 

 The VCSE sector was granted “innovation funds” to develop local community services. 

Again, while this encouraged innovation, it showed that there was not a system-wide 

approach to working with the VCSE sector. Innovation funds were also granted to 

domiciliary care agencies to enable them to address workforce issues. Some agencies had 

put in place new ways of addressing the staffing shortfall such as offering to pay for driving 

lessons for newly recruited care workers. The local authority would pay half of the grant on 

approval of a proposal and the balance would be paid when results were achieved. 

 

 System leaders recognised the areas that needed to be addressed to support an integrated 

workforce and work was ongoing through the workforce group to address this. However 

much of this was in very early stages of development; for example, system leaders were 

looking at how to develop the skill mix of staff but did not articulate what this meant in terms 

of timely plans and actions. Frontline staff missed opportunities to learn from each other as 

they were siloed within their own organisations or within communities. Frontline staff 

showed willingness to learn and improve and many groups we spoke with felt that learning 

opportunities such as those from safeguarding referrals were being missed.  

 

Are services in Wiltshire caring? 

Staff who supported people living in Wiltshire were caring in their approach. There was a clear 

will to put the person at the heart of services but health services did not always adopt an 

enabling approach. GPs played a prominent role in enabling people to access services, but 

people who tried to access services through different routes struggled to navigate the system. 

Families and advocates were involved in care planning but were not always listened to when 

people became unwell.  

 

 Frontline staff in health and social care, including VCSE organisations and independent 

providers, were all clear that the person needed to be at the centre of their care. However, 

in practice, wanting what was best for the person sometimes manifested in a paternalistic 

approach with services being delivered to, or imposed upon, people. This was 

Page 74



                                          
  

Page | 31 

 

acknowledged by staff we spoke with. Case studies showed that social services plans were 

more focused on people’s needs and goals but health and therapy records tended to be 

time and task focused, maintaining a view of people as patients rather than taking a holistic 

approach. 

 

 A VCSE organisation had undertaken some research in part of the county and found that in 

general, older people had a negative view of the services on offer to them – such as coffee 

mornings – and would prefer support to maintain normal community relationships, such as 

visiting the hairdresser and shops, and receiving simple forms of support within their 

community, such as someone helping them to put their bins out. People wanted to have a 

continued sense of purpose. For example, an older person who suffered from a disability 

was becoming depressed and socially isolated but did not want to attend the services on 

offer as they felt they had no purpose. A local church asked the person to sew squares for 

blankets and the person went on to run a sewing group that made items for the community. 

 

 There was some good support from the CCG with regard to winter planning to ensure that 

people had information about flu immunisation and pharmacy support. More generally, 

people struggled to access information about services, particularly if they were funding their 

own support. People we spoke with told us they were reluctant to contact the local authority 

for advice as their experience of doing so felt more like a financial assessment than a 

discussion about, and signposting for their needs. Many of the focus groups we spoke with 

told us that GPs were most often the gateway to services for people. However GPs 

expressed frustration that when they tried to make referrals on people’s behalf they were 

put in the same call centre queue as the general public; they could struggle to get through 

to services which caused frustration and was a poor use of their time.  

 

 The local authority ran a website ‘Your Care, Your Support’ but it was not easy to use. It 

supplied a lot of information about what services meant, for example, what intermediate 

care was, but it did not help direct the reader to the right services for their needs. Rather, 

they would need to read a large amount of information about different services with different 

links to the CCG, Wiltshire Health and Care, NHS England, Department of Health and local 

authority websites. 

 

 When people’s needs were assessed, families and advocates were involved in supporting 

people to make choices about their plans. We saw in case studies that family members and 

friends were involved in assessments. People who used services told us that there was 

good support for them from VCSE organisations such as Alzheimer’s Support. However 

some carers told us that they found themselves becoming service coordinators when 

supporting their friends or family as communication between agencies was poor. People 

Page 75



                                          
  

Page | 32 

 

living in an extra care housing scheme relied on their housing officers to support them to 

navigate the system and we heard from people living at one of the services that the housing 

officers’ support was paramount to enabling people to retain their independence.  

 

 The dignity and respect due to people was compromised by poor communication. People 

felt that they had to tell their stories multiple times as they moved between services. 

Advanced care plans were not always considered when people were at the end of their 

lives. Occasionally ambulance services and GPs could be risk averse and admit people 

who were at the end of their lives to hospital despite their wishes not to go. We were 

provided with an example of a person who was at the end of their life and living in a care 

home, and who had an advanced directive that stated that they no longer wished to be 

admitted to hospital. They had a fall in the home at 9pm and were not seen by paramedics 

until 7am the following morning, at which point they chose to admit the person. The person 

ended up very distressed as they were moved five times in 24 hours before their family 

member was able to convince the hospital to allow them to return home The carer felt that 

decision about their family member’s care by clinicians was based on purely on the 

person’s presentation at the hospital and did not take into account the carer’s 

understanding of their family member’s needs and wishes. 

 

Are services in Wiltshire responsive? 

Some services in Wiltshire were responsive to people’s needs so that they could stay in their 

usual place of residence for as long as possible. Much of this was facilitated by GPs and the 

VCSE sector. In one part of the county there was a specialist geriatrician to support people and 

prevent hospital admissions, and the Urgent Care at Home Service provided 72 hours of care to 

help people to live at home. However the service was not always able to meet demand and this 

impacted on its success. Some services were only available at hospitals and there was a lack of 

reliable transport for accessing community services and outpatient appointments which meant 

that people were at risk of isolation and deterioration in their health.  

 

 There were arrangements to ensure that people could be seen in the right place and by the 

right person to avoid hospital admission however these services were under pressure which 

meant that arrangements were not always timely. There was high intensity community 

support available through the Urgent Care at Home Service which provided 72 hours of 

care and support to people in their homes to prevent hospital admission. However, there 

was not enough capacity in the system to support this and people still had to wait for 

support which meant in the meantime they might require a hospital admission.  

 

 We found evidence of innovation led by GPs which contributed to people staying at home 

and out of hospital. These included a community heart failure pilot which had led to a 

reduction in hospital admissions, and was due for roll out across the county during 2018. 

Page 76



                                          
  

Page | 33 

 

Also, a dementia screening service with access to memory clinics, a pyscho-geriatrician 

and referral to the Alzheimer’s Support Centre. We heard that GPs in parts of Wiltshire had 

direct access to hospital consultants which helped prevent admissions.  

 

 The system’s own BCF performance dashboard for February 2018 showed that although 

there were more referrals to the Urgent Care at Home Service in 2017/18 than in the 

previous year, the service was less effective than it had been in previous years, and was 

not being utilised as widely as it had been in 2015/16. The system dashboard showed that, 

on average, fewer hospital admissions were avoided through the use of the service.  

 

 There was increasing use of technology to support people in their homes. For example, the 

urgent care provider had a contract for aids such as falls alarms. We were also provided 

with an example of a person in a care home who needed to see a consultant dermatologist 

but became distressed when they needed to leave their room. The consultant was able to 

view the person through a video link which meant the person felt safe while still having their 

health needs attended to. 

 

 Changes were being made to services to improve people’s experiences and reduce 

admissions. For example, the independent urgent care and out-of-hours provider was due 

to link with the 111 service in May 2018. This was being commissioned by the three CCGs 

operating across the STP footprint. When the 111 service received calls about people over 

the age of 85, and once they had established that the person did not have an urgent life-

threatening condition, the call would be transferred to the out-of-hours provider who could 

support people more appropriately according to their needs. However, there were risks to 

this as the out-of-hours provider did not have access to GP records and there was no 

overnight support from district nursing teams. The community health provider was 

considering implementing additional community based support such as enabling district 

nurses to administer intravenous antibiotics, but there were concerns about maintaining the 

levels of training required and if out-of-hours support was not available this could also 

impede the effectiveness of this scheme.  

 

 In the north of the county a specialist geriatrician participated in multidisciplinary team visits 

to support older people and our case studies showed that there was often involvement from 

a range of health and social care professionals when people needed support.  

 

 Wiltshire is a large rural county with the acute trusts near the north, west and south borders 

of the county. Transport was a significant problem which impacted on the ability of people to 

attend outpatient appointments and support services. People who attended support groups 

such as Music for the Mind told us that if they did not have their own transport they would 

Page 77



                                          
  

Page | 34 

 

not be able to access services. Some basic services were not easily available without 

travelling long distances. For example, if people needed to have their hearing aids cleaned 

and maintained, they needed to go to one of the hospitals on the borders of the county. At 

one of the voluntary services that people attended, one person brought along equipment to 

help people with their hearing aids. This was a good example of people in the community 

supporting each other, but system leaders had not recognised and promoted this as a 

solution, despite it having a big impact on the quality of people’s lives. One GP surgery had 

x-ray facilities which meant that people in area this would not have to travel large distances 

for appointments.  

 

 The CCG coordinated the walk-in centres across the county. Local data showed that there 

were between 1,100 and 1,800 attendances per month at each minor injury unit (MIU). 

Opening times were 7am to 11pm daily, with support from a co-located x-ray department 

9am to 5pm, Monday to Friday. Wiltshire Health and Care and the CCG published 

information online advising people what could be treated at the MIUs and when they should 

attend A&E.  

 

 An engagement event was held in August 2017 with groups of people that included carers 

and people who used services. They identified a lack of continuity of care as they moved 

between services as a problem; they stated that frequent changes in social work staff 

meant that they had to tell their story often, information about them was stored on different 

systems, and requests for support were often slow to be managed. People felt that the 

requirement to undertake repeated assessments with different health and social care 

professionals reflected a lack of trust in the system as well as being burdensome to staff 

and the people who used services.  

 

 People who attended the engagement event also fed back that the eligibility criteria for 

access to services was confusing and difficult to understand. There was a risk that people 

were deterred from contacting services for support and missed opportunities to access 

preventative services. Telecare services were provided by an independent provider as part 

of a reablement package to support people in their homes. However when the six week 

reablement period ended, people would be assessed and may need to pay for the telecare 

service that they had been receiving. This was not always clearly explained to people at the 

outset. 

 

 

  

Page 78



                                          
  

Page | 35 

 

Do services work together to manage people effectively at a time of 

crisis?  
Using specially developed key lines of enquiry, we reviewed how the local system is 

functioning within and across the key area: crisis management  

 

Are services in Wiltshire safe? 

When people were in crisis and required support, there were systems and processes in place to 

ensure that they were safe. Staff across all sectors were appropriately trained to recognise risk, 

and generally knew how to escalate concerns. Teams worked collaboratively to support people 

at risk, and reduce any potential harm. Referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

were not routinely tracked or assessed by the local authority, with acute hospitals managing 

DoLS locally.  

 

None of the three acute hospitals providing care for people in Wiltshire met the A&E waiting time 

target. All acute hospitals had front door teams who assessed frail elderly people on admission 

to identify the best treatment pathways, resulting in a large number of people being discharged 

home within 48 hours of crisis. However, bed occupancy was consistently worse than the 

recommended level in the three acute hospitals. The average length of stay in hospital for 

people from Wiltshire over 65 was higher than the England average.  

 

Staff were able to access crisis support such as escalation beds or 72-hour care; however this 

was not consistent across the county. There was a disparity in the access to intermediate care 

or respite care beds according to people’s location within the county 

 

 People with complex needs or those who were at risk of deterioration, but did not need to 

stay in hospital were signposted to additional support mechanisms within the community. 

For example, someone admitted into A&E with a history of falls, would be referred to the 

falls clinic and the community occupational therapists on discharge from hospital. Staff 

reported speaking directly to community matrons, GPs and VCSE services to create links of 

support across the county for individuals. 

 

 The local authority and the CCG jointly commissioned Urgent Care at Home, which 

provided up to 72 hours domiciliary care for people who require urgent support. This could 

be accessed through the GP who liaised with the care coordinators and Wiltshire Health 

and Care. If respite or an inpatient stay was required, GPs in the south of the county were 

able to directly access intermediate care beds or commission beds within a nursing home 

for up to two weeks. This service was only available within the south of the county. 

 

 From May 2018, the Integrated Urgent Care service was planned to combine with NHS111 

Page 79



                                          
  

Page | 36 

 

and the GP out-of-hours services to provide a single point of access for health and care. At 

the time of our review GPs did not have priority access to the service, using the same 

helpline phone number as the general public to make contact with services. To reduce time 

spent making referrals, the CCG was planning to commission improved access to the 

service for GPs from April 2018, with 100% coverage by October 2018. 

 

 People in crisis were assessed on admission to hospital to determine what was needed to 

manage the person’s clinical condition and maintain their safety. All acute hospitals 

provided a multidisciplinary team who assessed frail elderly people on admission, either 

within the accident and emergency department or acute admission areas. The teams 

comprised physiotherapists, occupational therapist and nurses. All were senior, 

experienced clinicians who were able to make decisions about people in care pathways. 

Working hours of this service varied according to the location, but all had a reduced service 

at weekends. Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust was the only front door team that reported 

direct links with a consultant geriatrician.  

 

 All people were assessed on admission by the “front door assessment team” to identify any 

interventions that could have been implemented to facilitate discharge, for example, a 

person admitted following a fall, may require a walking aid for stability. These people could 

be assessed by a therapist and discharged the same day with equipment. The front door 

teams also referred people to the correct provider for ongoing care. Salisbury NHS 

Foundation Trust’s team, were also able to directly refer people to intermediate care beds.  

 

 There were systems and processes in place to ensure that people in crisis were supported 

through the health service. This included the escalation of concerns through a standardised 

safeguarding framework. All hospital nursing staff were familiar with safeguarding policies 

and referral processes, although some had not participated in any referrals. Staff were 

provided with mandatory safeguarding training appropriate to their role and responsibilities. 

Community care coordinators were also familiar with referral processes. 

 

 We were told that safeguarding information was not available on the IT system, which 

meant that there was not a robust process for monitoring referrals. All acute hospitals 

reported that there were safeguarding leads who assisted with the tracking of patient 

concerns. They also provided support for ward staff for difficult cases. 

 

 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) referrals were not routinely followed up by the 

local authority. Nursing staff reported that they completed referrals and did not receive 

information back regarding safeguarding assessments or details of patient advocates. The 

community hospital reported that they had one patient advocate allocated in the four years 

Page 80



                                          
  

Page | 37 

 

that they had worked within the department. Patients were tracked internally with DoLS 

maintained until the person was either discharged or their clinical condition changed. 

 

 There were plans to introduce the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) into residential 

and nursing homes, although there was no timescale for completion of the project. The 

system is widely used in acute hospitals to identify people at risk of deterioration based on 

a point system allocated to clinical observations. It was thought that the introduction of 

NEWS would facilitate timely and appropriate referrals to hospital. 

 

 The NHS constitution sets out that a minimum of 95% of people attending accident and 

emergency departments must be seen, treated and then admitted or discharged in under 

four hours. This is one of the core standards and often referred to as the four-hour target. 

Data showed that Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust met this target from April 2014 to April 

2015, and performed better than the England average in 2015/16 and 2016/17 (90.8 to 

94.8% compared to 89.1 to 91.9%). The Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation 

Trust and the Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust did not meet the 95% target 

in the same period (April 2014 to March 2017). Both consistently performed worse than the 

England average for the same period (83.3 to 91.9%). All trusts had declining performance.  

 

 National guidance suggests that optimal bed occupancy levels in hospital are around 85%. 

Hospitals with an average bed occupancy above 85% risk facing regular bed shortages, 

periodic bed crises and potential increased numbers of hospital acquired infections. Data 

showed that bed occupancy was consistently higher than the England average in the Great 

Western Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (92-95%) and the Royal United Hospitals Bath 

NHS Foundation Trust (91-97%), from April 2016 to June 2017. Data for Salisbury NHS 

Foundation Trust showed bed occupancy between 77 and 90% for the same period. During 

our review, we were told that bed occupancy remained an issue with occupancy frequently 

higher than 100% (between 95 to 112%). 

 

 The average length of stay in hospital for people in Wiltshire aged over 65 years was 23 

days from September 2016 to August 2017. This was worse than in 11 of the 15 

comparator areas. Between the last quarter of 2016 and the first quarter in 2017, there was 

an upward trend in the proportion of emergency admissions for people over 65 years which 

lasted longer than seven days. Data showed 36% of admissions of older people from 

Wiltshire lasted longer than seven days in April to June 2017, compared to the England and 

comparator averages of 32%.  

 

Are services in Wiltshire effective? 

System leaders had supported the development of front door teams to reduce admissions to 

Page 81



                                          
  

Page | 38 

 

hospital and data demonstrated that this was effective. However, hours of operation were not 

always aligned to activity. Admission pathways to acute hospitals did not always bypass the 

accident and emergency department, and were not always designed to meet the needs of 

people with dementia. There were systems in place to provide people with emergency care if 

they were discharged within 48 hours of admission to hospital; however after this time, a referral 

to the discharge team was required.  

 

Health and social care teams were co-located on wards to assist with discharge planning. The IT 

infrastructure did not promote joined up working with different systems available to each service 

which limited ability to share information. Pathways for discharge were established; however, the 

capacity to deliver against each pathway was limited by resources. Community and acute 

hospital staff felt that there was little proactive in-reach from community staff relating to people 

admitted into hospital to promote early discharge. The introduction of the Wiltshire Control 

Centre had promoted a more streamlined approach to patient flow. Home First was able to 

buffer delays in long term packages of care to prevent inpatient waits. There were some delays 

in mental health assessments which affected people’s length of stay in hospital. All hospitals 

used a red and green day system to identify how they could ensure timely discharge.  

 

 Services were designed to improve flow through the health and social care system. The 

type and number of hospital admissions varied across all trusts. Salisbury NHS Foundation 

Trust saw the highest percentage of people who lived in Wiltshire with 25,119 people 

(approximately 70% of attendances), 38% of which were over 65 years. The Royal United 

Hospital Bath NHS Foundation Trust provided care for 23,836 people (approximately 40% 

of total numbers), of which 36% were over 65 years. The Great Western Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust saw 15,973 people (approximately 30% of total numbers), of which 39% 

were over 65 years2. 

 

 When people were in crisis at home, they were able to contact the clinical hub for advice 

and support. The hub provided direct access to on call GP services and community teams. 

The CCG was planning to develop the use of technology to include an online 111 service 

and eConsult. Most GPs were able to triage people remotely using similar IT systems. 

 

 Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust provided a “consultant hotline” where ambulance services, 

GPs and nurses could contact the consultant directly to discuss people being reviewed in 

the community. This helped to streamline admissions. 

                                            

2
 Figures represent 2016/17 data 

Page 82



                                          
  

Page | 39 

 

 

 The Royal United Hospital Bath NHS Foundation Trust was supported by four minor injury 

units (MIUs) which impacted on the type of people attending the department. People with 

minor injuries made up 14% of attendances for Q3 2017/18 which was less than national 

average. Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust and Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust were supported by local MIUs, but the balance of minor injuries to people requiring 

increased medical input, was higher for example 56% of Great Western Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust A&E attendances for minor injuries in Q3 2017/18. Royal United Hospitals 

Bath NHS Foundation Trust also had an urgent care centre co-located. A&E reception staff 

redirected people to the urgent care centre if the admitting symptoms had been present for 

over two weeks. 

 

 The acute hospitals had varied admission pathways. Expected GP referrals were (where 

possible) directed to the acute assessment unit in Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust, 

bypassing A&E. In the other two trusts, people were usually admitted through A&E. Time 

spent within A&E varied according to activity and availability of inpatient beds. Patient 

records showed that people were in A&E for up to 20 hours, awaiting decisions on 

pathways or an inpatient bed. 

 

 All hospitals recognised the importance of having a geriatrician “at the front door”, although 

this was not always provided. The Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust reported 

medical team vacancies, which resulted in delays in A&E. During our visit, we saw that 

there were some people waiting for up to 20 hours to be assessed by a doctor. The Royal 

United Hospital Bath NHS Foundation Trust also reported that they would like a geriatrician 

in A&E, with a dedicated admission area; however, this was not in place at the time of the 

review. Frail elderly people admitted to Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust were either seen in 

A&E or transferred to the acute medical unit which was staffed by a geriatrician 8.30am to 

7pm, Monday to Friday, with a dedicated team outside of these hours. A&E had two cubicle 

spaces which were dementia friendly, with appropriate signage, lighting, clocks and 

decoration.  

 

 People’s needs and choices were assessed holistically by the front door teams, to promote 

independence and plan discharge. On admission to hospital, people were assessed using a 

standardised framework (individual to each trust) and based on the activities of daily living. 

This process enabled the front door teams to identify people’s complaints, risks and 

determine treatment or care pathways. People were included in discharge planning, 

including discussions about any support networks. 

 

Page 83



                                          
  

Page | 40 

 

 

 Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust had introduced a joint patient admission template which 

was completed by all staff. The aim of this template was to ensure that staff were not 

repeating unnecessary assessments. For example, the admitting doctor would complete a 

physical examination of the person and record a medical history. This assessment 

information would be trusted by speciality doctors when reviewing the person, preventing 

repeated assessments and discussions. Doctors would continue the patient record, stating 

for example, “physical examination, as above”. Similar templates were used at the other 

acute hospitals; however there was evidence to suggest that some assessments were 

repeated by clinicians. 

 

 All A&E staff reported that they would like social worker input from the point of admission, 

preferably with a dedicated social worker based in A&E. This had been trialled for a short 

time at the Great Western Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, but had been withdrawn 

following completion of the trial. A&E staff reported that they did not know why the project 

hadn’t continued. 

 

 People could be referred directly for support in the community within 48 hours of admission 

to hospital. After the initial 48 hours, people had to be referred to the discharge team for 

assessment of ongoing care needs. This meant that people who were fit to be discharged 

from hospital at for example on day four of admission, would have to wait for an 

assessment by the discharge team if a care package was required. 

 

 Community hospitals reported that they received inappropriate admissions, with some 

people being admitted who were fit and could go home. However, the pathway chosen at 

the acute hospital did not facilitate this. The teams felt this was largely due to delays in 

beds being available and the consequential improvement in people’s baseline conditions 

while waiting and people not being reassessed before transfer. 

 

 All trusts worked to similar discharge planning systems. Medical ward rounds occurred 

frequently according to the acuity of the inpatient area. For example, we saw that people 

admitted to the short stay frail elderly ward were reviewed twice daily by a consultant. 

Doctors clearly recorded when people were medically fit for discharge. Staff completed 

ward board meetings which identified people’s readiness for discharge. Discharge 

coordinators supported ward staff to complete any referrals and offered guidance on 

appropriate care pathways; although it was clear that the right pathway was not always 

followed. We were given examples of people who were discharged from hospital on 

different pathways to those originally planned as a result of limited capacity within the 

community to pick up care packages. For example, one person was discharged from 

Page 84



                                          
  

Page | 41 

 

hospital with a live-in care worker, because a four times a day, two care worker package 

could not be provided.  

 

 Social workers attended ward board rounds and worked closely with ward and discharge 

teams to promote a seamless transition of people’s care. 

 

 Services had the right skills to support effective transition between health and social care. 

There were effective working relationships between adult social care, GPs and housing 

teams which enabled people to access the right support to meet their individual needs.  

 

 There were varied reports of effective collaboration and sharing of information. Community 

teams reported that acute providers did not always know where someone was located and 

community staff were often directed to the A&E reception. A&E staff would search for the 

individual on the electronic patient information system and direct the call accordingly. Acute 

hospital staff reported that community health staff and social workers rarely followed up 

people known to them and did not routinely seek to assist with discharge planning. 

 

 The IT infrastructure did not promote joined up working. Community hospitals used a 

different electronic patient record (EPR) to the community teams and GPs. There were 

plans to change the community hospitals’ system to one compatible with the community 

and GP EPR although the date for completion was not known as this was reliant of 

agreement of funding. The acute hospitals had different systems to each other and all 

community EPRs. Frontline staff within the acute hospitals reported having access to GP 

records, but this was not readily available and required assistance from the social work 

team. Social care teams used the same system, but this was not compatible with any of the 

health care EPRs. 

 

 Although some EPRs were compatible (or the same), the sharing of information was not 

automatic. Consent needed to be authorised to enable another practitioner to view 

information. Staff reported that this process often needed repeated follow-up to enable 

access to patient records and hindered decision making. 

 

 All inpatient areas used the red and green system to track people who were ready for 

discharge. This is a visual management system to assist in the identification of wasted time 

in a person’s journey, used to reduce delays. Red days are those which are of no value for 

a person, for example, a day waiting for an investigation, or a care package to support 

discharge home. Green days are those of value to a person; the person receives care that 

can only be provided by an acute hospital. Teams were looking at how to reduce red days, 

to promote flow through the hospitals. 

Page 85



                                          
  

Page | 42 

 

 

 Wiltshire Health and Care had implemented four discharge pathways: 

 Pathway 0 required no intervention.  

 Pathway 1, Home First, was for people who required some support but were safe to be 

left alone between visits.  

 Pathway 2 was for people who were not safe to be left alone at night or between visits, 

and/or did not have access to a normal place of residence.  

 Pathways 3, was for complex discharges that required ongoing support or placement 

within a residential or nursing home.  

 

 People discharged on pathway 0 were not routinely referred to the Adult Social Care team, 

which meant that routine preventative intervention, information and advice could not always 

be shared with people who might benefit from this. 

 

 The liaison between mental health and physical health teams was not always streamlined, 

with staff reporting delays in care as a result of lack of mental health input. Admission 

areas, were able to access mental health support without difficulty, however, once people 

were transferred to the inpatient ward areas, staff reported delays of up to three days for 

mental health assessments. We saw medical notes that confirmed this. 

 

 Acute hospital staff reported a lack of in-reach from community teams, which was a 

separately commissioned function. This impacted on people’s length of stay as their normal 

health condition was not always known. In addition, staff reported not fully understanding 

what community teams could offer to support a person’s discharge. Wards had trialled a 

community matron attending the ward board rounds to identify people that could be 

discharged home with community input; however this was not consistent practice. 

 

 Communication across all teams had improved since the introduction of the Wiltshire Winter 

Control Centre. This was a pilot initiative where all referrals were centrally reviewed by a 

team of clinicians. People were referred directly from the control centre to the most 

appropriate pathway, resulting in an increased flow of people through the hospitals. Data 

showed that the centre had assisted to reduce the number of delayed transfers of care by 

identifying the correct pathways and flexing the workforce to meet the demands. For 

example, Home First were able to extend the number of days that they assisted someone at 

home while waiting for a long term package of care to be introduced. Although this was not 

ideal, the process prevented a longer inpatient period. 

 

 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWAST) recorded the 

percentage of calls that were abandoned before they were answered. From August 2016 to 

Page 86



                                          
  

Page | 43 

 

July 2017 between 1% and 4% percent of calls were abandoned, with an average of 1.7% 

monthly. June 2017 saw the peak at 4%. 

 

 From August 2016 to July 2017 an average of 14.6% of call were closed following 

telephone advice. The figure for December 2016 was the highest in the period, with 17% of 

calls resolved without ambulance attendance. For the same period, between 49 and 51% of 

calls were managed without the person being transported to the accident and emergency 

department. 

 

Are services in Wiltshire caring? 

People received care that was assessed in a holistic way, and all people we spoke with felt that 

they were involved in decisions about their ongoing care. However, we saw missed opportunities 

to follow through on some people’s preferences. Acute hospital staff felt that difficult 

conversations were not held early enough when people’s conditions were deteriorating, which 

affected the ability to follow through treatment escalation plans in a timely manner. There were 

some discrepancies with knowledge in the acute hospitals of what was available within the 

community to support people and their carers. GPs provided carer support programmes. When 

ambulances were called, people were assessed before decisions made to transfer to hospital. 

Hospital treatment was advised for approximately 50% of ambulance calls. People were 

generally satisfied with the care and treatment they received. 

 

 We found that the assessments of needs were not always coordinated effectively to ensure 

that people were at the centre of their care and support planning. There were reports of 

poor experiences within emergency care and poor communication between community and 

acute providers. For example, when someone was admitted to the acute hospital from a 

care home, information about the person was provided. However, care homes reported that 

they frequently received calls asking for information they had already provided. Similarly, 

when people were discharged from hospital, wards reported receiving multiple calls 

regarding treatments completed. 

 

 There were concerns that discharge assessments did not pick up on individuals’ needs and 

take into consideration the person’s home environment. Domiciliary care staff reported that 

they would prefer people to have home visits before being discharged from hospital to 

ensure that all risks were identified before the person was discharged home. 

 

 We saw that the discharge processes were not streamlined. There were no trusted 

assessors, which meant that people were frequently assessed by multiple professionals to 

obtain the same information. This was despite individual treatment plans being made in 

conjunction with the person and by a senior clinician.  

Page 87



                                          
  

Page | 44 

 

 

 People and their loved ones were encouraged to be actively involved with decision making 

about their care. We saw patient records detailing conversations around discharge 

planning. Best interests meetings were completed for people who were unable to make 

informed decisions regarding discharge from hospital. 

 

 GPs felt that information about services accessible to the acute hospitals did not always 

accurately reflect what was available within the community.  

 

 Wiltshire jointly commissioned a carers service with GPs running carers programmes and 

prescription breaks. This is when GPs or practice nurses “prescribe” carers a social, leisure 

or health break which could include gym membership, sports activity, complimentary 

therapy or health and beauty appointments. This scheme was aimed particularly at carers 

who were suffering ill health as a result of their role, or those with long term conditions. 

 

 Hospital staff felt that difficult discussions with people using the service and their loved ones 

should be completed earlier in the person’s journey. For example, we saw that people with 

a Treatment Escalation Plan cared for in the community were often admitted to hospital 

when their condition deteriorated. Staff felt that if the person using the service and their 

families were informed that they were nearing the end of their life, they may choose not to 

be admitted to hospital.  

 

 We saw that people using hospital services and their loved ones were treated with dignity 

and respect. This was supported by results of Friends and Family Test surveys across the 

three acute hospitals. 

 

 Royal United Hospital Bath NHS Foundation Trust had introduced a patient information 

leaflet which detailed expectations regarding discharge. The leaflet was introduced in 

February 2018 and given to all people who were admitted. Staff felt that clear information at 

the point of admission helped to “set the scene” and reduce delays in discharge planning. 

 

Are services in Wiltshire responsive? 

People who were in crisis could access support from a variety of settings, and this was provided 

in a timely way. Wiltshire performed better than the England average in preventing admissions 

to hospital for common clinical conditions. Hospital staff felt that some people admitted to 

hospital identified as requiring a package of care for the first time were encouraged to go home 

with support, rather than their preferred discharge destination of a residential placement. People 

were encouraged to maintain independence during their stay in hospital to promote early 

discharge and prevent deterioration of clinical conditions.  

Page 88



                                          
  

Page | 45 

 

 

When ambulances were called, response times varied, however crews actively prevented 

transferring people to hospital wherever possible. People generally waited for less than 60 

minutes for their care to be handed over to hospital staff when transferred to hospital by 

ambulance. Hospital choice policies supported staff and people using the services to identify 

discharge pathways although these were not always user friendly. 

 

 People who were in crisis could access help from a variety of sources including, their GP, 

the clinical hub or acute hospitals. If assessed before presenting at A&E, action could be 

taken to prevent admission to an acute hospital. Community hospitals provided a step-up 

facility for people who required support, but were not acutely unwell. There was limited 

capacity to do this due to increased numbers of people requiring step down care from acute 

hospital. 

 

 The out-of-hours services covered children and adult calls, with the unwell child taking 

priority over any adult calls. This meant that there was potential for delay in some 

assessments of adults. 

 

 Capacity and workforce were the largest barriers to moving people through the health and 

social care system. We found and were told that people were often cared for in the wrong 

place, by the wrong people, due to lack of workforce capacity to manage referrals or cared 

for in the wrong location because of an inability to move people through the system. For 

example, we saw that all hospitals had a large number of medically fit people who were 

awaiting discharge home with packages of care or to a residential placement. There were 

between 40 and 80 people in each acute hospital waiting for some intervention to facilitate 

discharge. 

 

 Residential and nursing home care workers told us that ambulance crews were sometimes 

reluctant to attend care homes, and response times varied. Although, when attending to 

people, crews endeavoured to prevent admissions to hospital where possible. 

 

 Hospitals provided timely and effective processes for reviewing people’s needs to ensure 

that they received care in the most appropriate areas. People referred to hospital usually 

required acute care for the initial period of admission. Care was provided in acute 

admission areas or speciality units depending on the person’s clinical condition. All acute 

hospitals had short stay acute admission wards, which were designed to treat people and 

discharge them home within 48 to 60 hours. Once the person was clinically stable, if they 

were unable to be discharged home, they were moved to a less acute ward for discharge 

planning. This transfer was not always within the specified time frame, due to the lack of 

Page 89



                                          
  

Page | 46 

 

capacity in non-acute wards. Medical records showed some people experienced delays of 

up to 52 days. Discharge planning continued throughout the person’s stay in hospital 

irrespective of their location. 

 

 We saw that hospital staff promoted wellbeing on wards to prevent deterioration in people’s 

clinical conditions. This included encouraging people to get dressed and mobilise as much 

as possible. Some people were encouraged to continue to self-medicate during their 

inpatient stay; however, this was not consistent across all areas.  

 

 Community hospital staff were not aware of admission criteria for people admitted to the 

community beds. Community ward staff did not know who was being admitted until the day 

of admission. People who were fit to be discharged from hospital to a community bed were 

referred through Medvivo. Beds were allocated on the day that they became available. 

There were examples of inappropriate admissions being accepted into community beds, 

with six patients reported to have been fit for discharge home within the month prior to our 

review.  

 

 Where possible services ensured that people were able to make informed decisions, 

accessing support to promote independence. Assessments were focused on identifying any 

care needs, and people were involved with decisions regarding the level of care.  

 

 People with Treatment Escalation Plans (TEPs) in place were at risk of decisions about 

their care not being inclusive of them, and their family. When the person’s condition 

deteriorated, GPs and ambulance service crew would often refer them to the acute 

hospitals for further assessment or treatment. We saw an example of this during the review; 

a person’s records confirmed that despite a TEP being in place, the person was admitted to 

an acute hospital for end of life care, which could have been provided within the community. 

 

 Data showed that ambulance turnaround at all three acute hospitals was better than the 

national average; across all three trusts in January 2018, less than 2.3% of ambulances 

remained at the hospital for more than 60 minutes. The national average was 9.4%.  

 

 Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust performed better than the national average for patients 

spending less than four hours within A&E. In January 2018, 86.6% of patients were 

discharged within four hours, compared to the national average of 82.9%. The Royal United 

Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust and the Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation 

trust performed worse than the England average with 72.3% and 77.3% respectively in 

January 2018. 

 

  

Page 90



                                          
  

Page | 47 

 

Do services work together to effectively return people to their 

usual place of residence, or a new place that meets their needs?  
Using specially developed key lines of enquiry, we reviewed how the local system is 

functioning within and across the key area: step down, return to usual place of residence 

and/or admission to a new place of residence 
 

Are services in Wiltshire safe? 

There were systems and processes in place to ensure that people were safe when making the 

transition from a care setting to their homes. A standardised framework enabled the 

identification of risks and level of support needed when returning home. Ongoing care needs 

were monitored by GPs and community teams following notification of people’s discharges 

home.  

 

People’s individual risks were usually identified prior to discharge from hospital; however 

system wide risks were identified by system leads. There were processes in place to record 

system wide risks; however these were not widely shared or utilised. Outcomes of concerns 

raised through safeguarding referrals were not usually shared with referrers which meant that 

they were unaware of any ongoing concerns or actions that had been taken. People in 

Wiltshire were less likely to be admitted to hospital or be readmitted following discharge from 

hospital. 

 

 There were systems and processes in place to ensure that the transition between health 

and social care prevented any avoidable harm. Teams worked collaboratively to ensure that 

the discharge destination appropriately provided the right level of support to safeguard 

people. 

 

 There was effective partnership working to ensure that people were discharged from 

hospitals safely. People in Wiltshire who were in hospital were assessed using a 

standardised framework to ensure that their needs would be met on discharge. This 

framework enabled the correct discharge pathway to be identified.  

 

 Acute hospitals were focused on promoting early discharges, with front door teams 

assessing the majority of people over 65 years attending accident and emergency 

departments. Front door comprehensive assessments were designed to identify the reason 

for admission and senior clinicians were able to provide advice, equipment and if necessary 

referrals to community support teams to promote discharge as soon as possible. 

 

 Data for the three acute hospitals showed that the front door teams were able to discharge 

between 70 and 75% of people within the first 48 to 72 hours of admission. This reduced 

the risk of people being admitted into wards unnecessarily.  

Page 91



                                          
  

Page | 48 

 

 

 Within hospitals, discharge assessments identified the level of support needed for when a 

person left hospital. Staff were not always able to complete home visit assessments, but 

where possible ensured that people would be able to manage daily activities. If people were 

unable to perform daily tasks, packages of care or placements were arranged to ensure that 

people’s needs were met. The Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust had 

access to its own transport which was used by occupational therapists to provide home 

visits and equipment for high risk patients. The occupational therapist would accompany the 

person home and ensure that they were safe to be left in the property.  

 

 There were processes in place to assess people’s risks and mitigate these with actions to 

prevent harm; however, it was unclear how widely these were utilised; the acute 

commissioning lead referred to risk stratification being in place, but was not sure how widely 

this was used when planning services.  

 

 Discharge letters provided key information to GPs and community services when people left 

hospital. Letters would contain details of the admission to hospital and highlight any 

ongoing concerns for follow up. This enabled people who remained at risk, or those who 

were frail to be monitored in the community. Hospital staff told us that they received multiple 

calls from GPs and community staff relating to hospital discharge letters and their content. 

This was usually due to information not being clear.  

 

 In terms of people returning to their homes, risks associated with changes to medicine 

following an admission to hospital had been reviewed. Hospitals provided medicines for two 

weeks on discharge from hospital, an increase on the previous arrangement of one week’s 

supply. This ensured there was sufficient supply of medicines until the discharge letter was 

received by the GP and any changes managed.  

 

Are services in Wiltshire effective? 

There was good working across the multidisciplinary teams to support people when being 

discharged from hospital. People were provided with estimated dates of discharge and were 

generally kept informed of any changes and included in decisions regarding discharge location. 

Health and social care services worked collaboratively to share information about delays and 

actively sought solutions to increasing numbers of delays. Four discharge pathways were 

established and the Wiltshire Winter Control Centre was helping to streamline people to the 

most suitable discharge location or pathway. There were staffing capacity issues across all 

areas which impacted on service delivery and some work was repeated as the trusted 

assessor model was not in place. There were community projects designed to reduce 

admissions to hospital. 

Page 92



                                          
  

Page | 49 

 

 

 People’s needs and choices were considered at all stages when planning their return home. 

However, people were not always kept informed of plans or updated when plans changed. 

We saw that people took part in conversations about their discharge home and then 

decisions were sometimes made by clinical staff which were not always in line with the 

wishes of the person. For example, we saw patient records that confirmed that one person 

wished to be discharged home with an established package of care, however, due to 

concerns regarding their safety, the family were asked for their opinion which was that a 

residential placement was required. One week after being fit for discharge, the discharge 

location was still not agreed. This process also did not take into account the law regarding 

the Mental Capacity Act which states that if people are able to make informed decisions 

about their care these must be respected, even when they are considered to be unwise. 

 

 Some people, who lived at home with no support until a crisis would prefer to be discharged 

to a residential placement but their preferences were not taken into account. Where they 

had not received a package of care prior to admission to hospital, nursing staff told us that 

the people were put under pressure by social care to be discharged home with a package 

of care. In their view, this resulted in readmission to hospital within a short period of time. 

Data showed that the proportion of older people aged 65+ who were still at home 91 days 

after discharge from hospital into reablement or rehabilitation services was, at 65.9%, much 

lower than the England average of 82.5%. However, system leaders told us that there were 

data quality issues which negatively affected this indicator. 

 

 All the NHS trusts had a choice policy which included advice on engaging people who used 

services and their relatives in discussions around discharge planning. We saw that the 

choice policy was referred to as a tool to assist with difficult and complex discharges which 

involved senior nursing staff or the discharge teams. This supported staff to have difficult 

conversations with people about their next steps on leaving hospital and to support people 

to understand that the hospital was not the best environment for people while they were 

waiting for the residential service of their choice to become available. 

 

 All hospital inpatients were provided with an estimated date of discharge (EDD) on 

admission. This date was determined by the underlying clinical condition and associated 

treatment. We saw that the EDD was reviewed daily as part of board rounds and changed if 

necessary. People were kept informed of dates for discharge.  

 

 The details of the EDD varied according to the trust, and “medically fit for discharge” 

(MFFD) dates were also used. The Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust used 

the MFFD to record any delays, with the EDD changing according to where people were in 

Page 93



                                          
  

Page | 50 

 

the discharge process. For example, The EDD would reflect the date that a package of care 

was expected to start. The remaining hospitals recorded the EDD as the date that the 

patient was MFFD. The difference in recording EDD would not have impacted on the 

number of delayed transfer of care patients; however, different terminology may complicate 

discussions across the county.  

 

 There were delays in assessments for social care, continuing healthcare and nursing home 

placements. We saw that people were unable to be referred until they were medically fit, 

which meant that anyone awaiting an investigation or completion of treatment was unable 

to be discharged as soon as treatment was completed. There were also delays in accepting 

social care referrals. For example, we saw medical notes that detailed nursing staff faxed a 

social work referral seven days prior to the entry stating that the referral had been received 

by the social work department. This meant that the discharge home was automatically 

delayed by seven days, before any social care assessments had taken place. 

 

 Delayed transfers of care (DTOC) meetings were completed weekly and discussions 

completed across health and social care to identify the reason for delays and what actions 

could be taken to secure discharge from hospital. Acute hospital teams told us that 

although they understood why the meetings were required, they felt that the allocation “of 

blame” did not promote effective cross service working. They also felt that discharge was 

now so complex that the DTOC measure did not accurately reflect the issues facing 

hospitals in regards to discharges. 

 

 Community teams felt that hospitals were reluctant to discharge people who could be cared 

for or treated within the community. This was likely due to the limited understanding of 

people’s baseline conditions and what services could be provided in the community. 

 

 When a person was to be discharged to a nursing or residential care placement, this 

affected the ability of hospitals to discharge at weekends or in the evening. We were 

consistently told that care homes did not accept people into a placement after 3pm or on a 

Friday, Saturday or Sunday. Staff reported that they were told that this was for safety; 

however, these delays placed people at risk of obtaining hospital acquired infections due to 

longer periods in hospital. Local authority leaders were working collaboratively to try and 

promote weekend discharges however this was not embedded across the county. 

 

 All services were focused on improving flow through hospitals and care, with systems being 

designed and redesigned according to activity and performance. Health and social care 

workers felt that capacity was the main contributing factor to delays and that there had been 

a focus on delayed discharges for a number of years. Council meetings included 

discussions and updates on DTOC and winter pressures. 

Page 94



                                          
  

Page | 51 

 

 

 The introduction of the Wiltshire Winter Control Centre had assisted with the streamlining of 

people's discharges. Community hospital staff felt that acute hospital staff used them as a 

“default” for people being discharged from hospital, rather than assessing what was actually 

needed to support the person to go home. As the control centre assessed all referrals, they 

were able to ensure that people were sent to the right discharge location. 

 

 The acute hospitals were located near or over county borders which meant that they 

provided care and treatment for people outside Wiltshire as well as those who lived within 

the county. This impacted on the processes used and available to staff. Each county and 

local authority had different processes for discharging people, including different referral 

systems and forms. Staff reported that they learnt which process was required according to 

the individual and their discharge destination; however, staff felt that generic forms such as 

continuing healthcare forms should be standardised. At the time of our review, staff needed 

to ensure that the generic template was appropriately identified as the relevant 

commissioning group’s version or the form would be rejected causing further delay. 

 

 The four discharge pathways were established across the county, although the transition 

from the previous system had been slower in Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust and the 

Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. This did not impact on people’s 

experiences. 

 

 Discharge pathway 1 included the referral of people for reablement. Data showed that the 

proportion of people over 65 who were offered reablement or rehabilitation services was 

lower in Wiltshire (1.1%) than the comparator group (2.4%) and significantly lower than the 

England average of 2.7%. There was a decline in the provision of reablement from 2013/14 

when the portion of people offered reablement or rehabilitation was over 10%. 

 

 The proportion of people over 65 who were still at home 91 days after discharge from 

hospital into reablement or rehabilitation services was also significantly lower than the 

England average in 2016/17, with 65.9% of people in Wiltshire staying at home in 

comparison to 85% of the comparator group and 82.5% nationally. This figure had declined 

since 2015/2016. However, system leaders told us that there were data quality issues which 

negatively affected this indicator. 

 

 There was not an established pathway for people with delirium. People who were admitted 

to hospital with a delirium were often treated in the acute hospitals until they were fit to 

return to their home, unless they were deemed unsafe. We saw one person’s records which 

showed that following an admission with delirium, they remained in hospital for several 

Page 95



                                          
  

Page | 52 

 

weeks while decisions were made whether that person was able to go home. The person 

had stated that they wanted to go home, with a package of care, however, due to previous 

refusals of support, staff wanted to complete a mental capacity assessment, and best 

interests meeting with the family. The time to arrange this delayed the discharge by several 

weeks. 

 

 All services had the right skills to support the effective transition of people between health 

and social care. However all services reported decreased numbers of staffing either through 

the inability to recruit or planned reduction in staffing numbers. Hospitals reported high 

nursing staff vacancies and difficulties in recruiting geriatricians and occupational therapists. 

Elsewhere, the falls service had been reduced and capacity with social care was limited. 

 

 Teams generally worked collaboratively including some VCSE services. There was an 

apparent reluctance for some VCSE services to be involved, with no agreement on how to 

work together as partners. This affected the ability of people who were self-funding to 

access help or information. There was some ambiguity over what was commissioned within 

Wiltshire. 

 

 There was no trusted assessor model used across any service. This meant that 

assessments were often repeated causing delays. 

 

Are services in Wiltshire caring? 

Although people spoke of the caring way in which staff supported them, particularly in the 

community and hospice teams, services were not always delivered in a caring way. 

Communication between services and family members about their needs was not always open. 

People who had continuing healthcare needs did not have their needs assessed in a timely 

way and they were less likely to receive funding after waiting for their needs to be assessed. 

 

 Carers praised the support that they received for their loved ones from community and 

palliative care services. However, communication between services was often poor. We 

were told about a person who had presented to their GP and health professionals with 

increasing pain and were told they had a urinary tract infection. They were admitted to 

hospital and subjected to a number of tests but these were not discussed with the person or 

family members. The family did not receive any support or information on discharge from 

hospital and it was only when a family member was unpacking the person’s bag and found 

a note which they queried with their GP, that they found their parent had only a week to live. 

The carer had to push for support services but once these were in place they received good 

support for the last few days of their family member’s life. 

 

Page 96



                                          
  

Page | 53 

 

 People did not always receive services that were delivered in a caring way on discharge. 

For example people often had to wait a long time for transport out of hospital and then 

might have long journeys while a number of people were delivered to various homes. 

People waiting in the discharge lounge were not always supported with food and drink while 

they waited. One hospital had commissioned their own transport to overcome delays. At the 

time of our review, the contracted patient transport service was responsible for assessing 

whether people were eligible for the service. If they were not, they were signposted to other 

voluntary community transport services. This would mean a further delay and distress for 

people waiting for transport. System leaders had recognised the difficulties this caused for 

people and providers and were transferring the assessment function to a commissioning 

support unit that was jointly managed by four CCGs. 

 

Are services in Wiltshire responsive? 

Insufficient provision in the community, nursing and residential care sector meant that services 

were not always responsive to people’s needs. There were not clear systems across the 

county and different processes and timescales in services made the discharge process 

complicated and slower than it needed to be.  

 

Independent care providers and hospitals did not support each other adequately which meant 

that hospitals were frustrated by independent providers’ reluctance to accept residents 

throughout the week while providers felt that they were unable to do so because support 

around medicines was not always in place. People’s hospital discharges were not prioritised 

according to their individual needs and people were likely to experience delays in hospital 

before they could return home. 

 

 Community hospitals had different timescales for assessments from social care teams 

which meant that people were often delayed in being discharged with packages of care. 

Medical notes showed that, one person had been waiting for over ten weeks for a four 

times a day care package. Wiltshire Health and Care leads told us that they could negotiate 

timescales for assessments and packages of care; however this was not a robust agreed 

practice and was reliant upon individuals. There was no community hospital in the south of 

the county which meant that there was a reliance on nursing home beds.  

 

 People who lived in nursing homes were usually accepted back by the nursing home care 

staff without the need for an assessment. However, nursing homes seldom accepted a 

people back after 5pm or at weekends. Data for April 2016 to March 2017 showed that 19% 

of people were discharged at weekends. This was worse than in 11 of the 15 comparator 

areas and better than in three comparator areas. We undertook a survey of care homes 

and domiciliary care agencies. We received a low number of responses however 12 

respondents (41%) said discharge summaries ‘rarely’ or ‘never’ provided comprehensive 

Page 97



                                          
  

Page | 54 

 

information on changes in the person's care needs, while 13 respondents (45%) said they 

‘rarely’ or ‘never’ provided comprehensive information on future plans including escalation. 

Independent social care providers we spoke with told us that hospitals seemed to be 

unaware that care homes did not have a continuous supply of prescribed items and no 

pharmacy. Thursday and Friday can often be hospitals’ busiest days for discharge, but this 

lack of awareness meant care homes were left to try to source medication and other 

prescribed items over the weekends, at a time when GPs were less available. 

 

 Data from April 2014 to April 2017 showed that the rate of emergency admissions from 

Wiltshire care homes was consistently lower than the England average. However, for the 

same time period, more people would remain in hospital over seven days, up to 41% 

compared to the England average of up to 36%. Data for the same period showed that 

fewer people were readmitted to hospital in Wiltshire at 13-17% compared to the England 

average of 20%. Residential homes insisted that they reassessed people prior to their 

return home, which added a delay in discharge home. 

 

 The daily rate of delayed transfers of care for people over 18 was higher than the England 

average in January 2018, with 17.7 people per 100,000 compared to 11.4 nationally. The 

majority of delays for people over 18 was attributed to NHS organisations with 9.9 people 

per 100,000 compared to 7.4 people nationally. The main cause of delay was attributed to 

“awaiting residential or nursing home placement” – 6.9 per 100,000 compared to 3.5 

nationally. There was also a delay in the admission of people over 65 years to care homes 

with 41.1% of people waiting over seven days for transfer in comparison to 35.8% 

nationally. A framework contracting system was in place with two providers across the 

county which had been tasked with reablement and care at home. However at the time of 

our review commissioners told us that only 48% of packages of care were provided by the 

contracted suppliers and the rest were spot purchased. The local authority planned to 

address this by bringing reablement services back in house over a phased period during 

2018.  

 

 Staff across all hospitals told us that continuing healthcare (CHC) assessments were 

problematic, with minimal referrals being accepted. They told us that CHC referrals were 

completed for all patients, irrespective of whether clinicians felt that it was appropriate, as 

CHC referrals would need to be screened out before social care referrals would accepted 

There was a lack of interagency working which impacted on people waiting for support. 

Hospital staff felt that carrying out continuing healthcare assessments for all patients 

unnecessarily delayed social care input. This also meant that assessments were not 

completed in a timely way. NHSE data showed that in the quarter prior to our visit, 8% of 

assessments were completed on time.  

 

Page 98



                                          
  

Page | 55 

 

 Referrals to the continuing healthcare team were completed by staff in inpatient areas. The 

number of people eligible for NHS CHC funding was lower for people living in Wiltshire than 

the England average with 18.2% eligible compared to 43% nationally. Wiltshire’s 

performance for CHC assessment and referral conversion rates was also lower than the 

England average. The assessment conversion rate for standard CHC referrals was 

significantly lower than the England average, with 12% of assessments being completed in 

comparison to 31% nationally. The referral conversion rate was also lower than the England 

average of 25% at 11%. System leaders were unable to describe why the rate was so low 

but they were aware that CHC processes were not effective.  

  

 There were significant delays in people receiving continuing healthcare assessments. The 

NHS Southwest CHC Activity Assurance report for Q3 showed that only 8% of referrals 

were assessed within 28 days. This was the lowest performance in the NHS Southwest 

region. There was a risk that people who might not be entitled to CHC were experiencing 

unnecessary delays in accessing support or conversely people might be paying for care for 

which they were entitled to support. 

 

 We heard from independent social care providers that there was inequity in the provision of 

continuing healthcare and at one service we were told of a number of people who had 

almost identical health support needs however only one of them was receiving continuing 

healthcare funding. 

 

 Data showed that in Q1 2017/18, fast track CHC assessment conversion rates were 100% 

compared to the 99% England average and referral conversion rates were 90% compared 

to 95% nationally. However the NHS Southwest CHC Activity Assurance report for Q3 

showed that the fast track conversion rate had dropped to 90% and was the second lowest 

in the NHS Southwest region. 

 

 Data showed that 0% of staff in acute hospitals were completing CHC decision support tool, 

however, acute hospital staff we spoke with told us that they were being asked to complete 

CHC referrals prior to referrals for social care. Some acute hospital staff also told us that 

they were unable to refer people with long term conditions or new onsets of conditions who 

would probably be eligible for CHC funding. This was because referrals were to be 

undertaken by community hospital staff as part of pathways 3 or 4. This meant that there 

was a delay in referral to CHC for people who were identified as being possibly eligible for 

funding. For example, those who had a life changing illness or accident. 

 

 Acute hospital staff also reported completing fast track CHC referrals for people with life 

limiting illnesses. Staff reported that there were difficulties in fast track CHC referrals 

Page 99



                                          
  

Page | 56 

 

relating to people with life limiting illnesses, but no diagnosis of malignancy. Palliative care 

teams reported that evidence to support diagnosis was often disputed. This was 

symptomatic of a system that did not have clear and agreed interagency protocols to 

support outcomes for people who used services. 

 

 Funding approval following CHC assessment was considered to be speedy; however, 

people waiting to be discharged home with a package of care were placed on the same 

waiting list for care as all other patients. This resulted in delays of up to two weeks for 

people to be discharged home from hospital. At the time of our review we saw a person 

who had been assessed as being entitled to continuing healthcare funding as they were at 

the end of their life, but they remained in hospital awaiting a package of care along with 

people with less urgent needs. There was a risk that this person’s life would end in a 

hospital bed away from home. 

 

 There was not always a clear framework of support for people who funded their own care 

on discharge from hospital. Although reablement services were free of charge to all people 

who were discharged on a reablement pathway, conversations about fees and funding were 

not held at an early enough stage to enable people to understand what their options were 

when the package ended and if there was a delay in the process, there was a risk that 

people could find themselves owing money for a service they had been receiving. 

 

 

  

Page 100



                                          
  

Page | 57 

 

Maturity of the system  

What is the maturity of the system to secure improvement for the people of Wiltshire? 

 

 Although there was a clearly articulated vision with support and active engagement from 

elected members, this did not translate into an aligned strategy that was supported by joint 

commissioning intentions. Ambitions articulated in the joint Better Care Plan were being 

overtaken by separate developments in the health and social care systems and this was a 

source of frustration to frontline staff, VCSE and independent providers and people who 

lived in Wiltshire. 

 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board had oversight of the delivery of services across Wiltshire 

and there was strong leadership from elected members. However the board was very much 

engaged in the operational and strategic planning for local services and was less effective 

as a forum to challenge system leadership and foster integration. System leaders needed to 

be able to work together independently of the HWB to use their strategic and operational 

expertise. This would enable the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Health Scrutiny 

Committee to constructively test plans for delivery against the system vision. 

 

 There was a positive culture among frontline staff working in services in Wiltshire that 

valued joint working. Staff worked together to improve interagency approaches however 

there was a desire for this to be underpinned by a clearer strategic framework. System 

leaders had built relationships to further joint working although these were relatively new 

and there had been a period when relationships between the CCG and the local authority 

had been difficult. There were still some areas that required resolution such as the conflict 

around the continuing healthcare protocol and disputes. There was also a risk that interim 

leaders would change too frequently to allow cross organisational relationships to become 

embedded.  

 

 There were pressures in the care provider market, particularly with regard to staffing, quality 

and the rural geographical spread of the county. System leaders were addressing this with 

the creation of an in-house reablement service and of the Wiltshire Health and Care LLP. 

However, while WHC LLP was strong in its support and delivery of services, the impact of 

an in-house reablement service would take time to be realised. There were missed 

opportunities to engage the market, particularly the VCSE sector and the social care 

provider sector in the design and delivery of services.  

 

Page 101



                                          
  

Page | 58 

 

 There were pockets of joint commissioning but the use of the iBCF was not developed in a 

way that supported collaborative care and furthered joint working between the health and 

social care sectors. The targeting of resources at high-risk cohorts was very much led by 

GPs and the acute providers rather than through a system-wide approach. 

 

 There was an integrated workforce plan through the STP but this did not translate into a 

local integrated workforce plan. Solutions to manage workforce pressures were being 

sought locally but these were not proactively managed by system leaders, and proposed 

solutions such as the apprenticeship scheme were slow in being taken forward. 

 

 There was limited digital interoperability across the health and social care system. Primary 

care providers and the community health provider had a shared system which could 

facilitate better sharing of information however there had been limited sign up by practices 

to the sharing of information which meant that the benefits of a joint system could not be 

effectively realised.  

 

 Although there were pockets of joint working, preventative services needed to be more 

streamlined. There was not clarity about how to access services, people were subjected to 

multiple assessments and the variety of services on offer differed across the county. There 

were some positive steps being taken to support people through services, such as the GP 

models with care coordinators and Wiltshire Health and Care, however this approach was 

not joined up throughout the system. 

 

 GP and primary care services were a strength in the Wiltshire system and this could be built 

upon to support the vision of more preventative, coordinated and person-centred services. 

 

 

  

Page 102



                                          
  

Page | 59 

 

Areas for improvement  

We suggest the following areas of focus for the system to secure improvement  

 

 System leaders in health and social care must work more effectively together to plan and 

deliver an integrated strategy across Wiltshire which includes an updated Better Care Plan. 

 

 System leaders must urgently agree the continuing healthcare dispute protocol and resolve 

outstanding disputes. Systems must be put in place so that services can work together to 

reduce the likelihood of disputes, increase the conversion rate of referrals and the 

timeliness of assessments. 

 

 System leaders must work together to develop a culture that encourages joint planning, 

continuous quality improvement and integrated systems to deliver care for the people of 

Wiltshire.  

 

 The system has experienced churn at senior leadership level. There should be a focus on 

developing stable leadership arrangements across the system. Further urgent consideration 

should be given to the proposed role of joint CCG Accountable Officer and Corporate 

Director for adult social services, to ensure this will provide sufficient capacity across the 

local authority and CCG, that the objectives for the role are clear and that there is a strong 

structure to support it.  

 

 System leaders should create some space outside formal Health and Wellbeing Board 

meetings, to provide a forum for open debate and challenge. This will help partners further 

build trust, and an open and transparent culture.  

 

 There appeared to be some lack of clarity and overlap of roles between elected members 

and senior officers in the local authority. System working would benefit from clearer 

differentiation between: 

a) The role of elected members setting policy direction for the local authority and 

challenging system leaders via scrutiny, and; 

b) Officers working with partners to develop and implement plans. There must be a 

clearer forum for senior officers across the system to plan, implement, support and 

challenge each other. 

 

 System leaders should develop an integrated workforce plan for Wiltshire.  

 

Page 103



                                          
  

Page | 60 

 

 System leaders should explore where transformation work streams across health and social 

care can be aligned to further integration and reduce duplication of resources. 

 

 The system plan for Wiltshire, currently the Better Care Plan, should be refreshed and 

updated to reflect priorities aligned to the STP and the local transformation agenda. 

 

 GPs, VCSE organisations and independent social care providers should be considered as 

partners in developing the transformation and integration of services so that there is 

assurance for leaders and buy-in from providers at the point of delivery. 

 

 System leads should review the continuing healthcare referral and assessment process to 

improve the timeliness and appropriateness of referrals to improve people’s experiences. 

 

 A clearer, proactive approach to system-wide risk sharing should be developed supported 

by intelligence that enables a preventative approach to managing risk. 

 

 There should be clearer access to support and sign-posting for people who fund their own 

care and systems need to work together to ensure that people who might become 

vulnerable as they lack support structures are identified at an earlier stage. 

 

 There should be alignment and integration of localities and improved joint working to ensure 

effective integrated health and social care teams that meet the needs of people in Wiltshire. 

 

 There should be contingency planning in place to manage the transition from block 

purchasing to in-house reablement so that leaders are assured that there will be sufficient 

provision of packages of care. 

 

 Contracts with independent health and social care providers should have clear 

specifications and an outcomes framework that is understood and agreed by providers and 

commissioners. Realistic key performance indicators, that will demonstrate improved 

outcomes for people who use services, should be agreed.  

 

 

 

Page 104



Wiltshire Council 
 
Health Select Committee  
 
13 July 2018 
 
 

 
Subject:  Non-elected representation on Health Select Committee 

 
 
Purpose 
 

1. The award of the Service User Engagement and Healthwatch Wiltshire 
contracts to, respectively, Wiltshire Centre for Independent Living and Help 
and Care created an opportunity to review the current non-elected 
representation on the Health Select Committee to ensure that all relevant 
organisations are represented. 
 

2. Both contracts were awarded for three years to run from 1 June 2018 with an 
option to extend for a further two years. 
 

3. This report provides information on the options available to the Health Select 
Committee with regards to the appointment of non-elected stakeholders 
(Appendix A). 

 
Legislation 
 

4. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 included a number of changes to the 
local authority health scrutiny function and powers. Local authorities have 
greater discretion over how to exercise these powers, with the function of 
health scrutiny conferred directly on the local authority; and health scrutiny 
powers being extended to facilitate effective scrutiny of any provider of any 
NHS funded service, as well as any NHS commissioner. 

 
5. The new legislation in the 2012 Act lays increased emphasis on the role of 

patients and the public in shaping services. This was recognised in the 
inclusion of Healthwatch membership of health and wellbeing boards. The 
Regulations make provision about the referral of matters by local Healthwatch 
to local authority health scrutiny. 

 
6. Overview and Scrutiny (OS) committees may include co-opted members, 

including from Voluntary Community Sector (VCS) organisations. These may 
not be given voting rights except where permitted by the relevant local 
authority.  (Local Government Act 2000). 

 
Background 
 

7. The Local Authority Health Scrutiny guidance issued by the Department of 
Health (June 2014) states that: 

Page 105

Agenda Item 16

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf


“In the light of the Francis Report, local authorities will need to satisfy 
themselves that they keep open effective channels by which the public can 
communicate concerns about the quality of NHS and public health services to 
health scrutiny bodies. Although health scrutiny functions are not there to deal 
with individual complaints, they can use information to get an impression of 
services overall and to question commissioners and providers about patterns 
and trends.” 
 
“Furthermore in the light of the Francis Report, health scrutiny will need to 
consider ways of independently verifying information provided by relevant 
NHS bodies and relevant health service providers – for example, by seeking 
the views of local Healthwatch.”  
 

8. However the Local Authority Health Scrutiny guidance (DfH, June 2014) offers 
no further guidance on membership specific to health scrutiny committees. 
 

9. The CfPS “Local Healthwatch, health and wellbeing boards and health 
scrutiny - Roles, relationships and adding value” report describes the value of 
health scrutiny committees as:   

 

 Be a bridge between professionals and people who use services. 

 Bring a collective memory of public engagement, policy development and 
local knowledge about community needs and assets. 

 Be a valuable ‘critical friend’ throughout transition and beyond. 

 Evaluate policies arising from processes and decisions and outcomes from 
services. 

 Consider whether service changes are in the best interests of the local 
health service. 

 Carry out pro-active qualitative reviews that can inform and enhance policy 
and services. 
 

10. It also challenges councils’ health scrutiny to answer a number of questions 
regarding “roles, relationships and adding value”, including: 
 

 What can we do to be an effective ‘bridge’ between politicians, 
professionals and communities throughout the commissioning cycle? 

 

 Are we thinking strategically and pro-actively about how we can best use 
our resources to tackle inequalities and keep in touch with the experience 
of people who use services? 

 
Current non-elected representation on Health Select Committee (HSC) 
 

11. Since 2014, the following organisations have had non-elected representation 
on the HSC, as Stakeholders (full speaking rights, non-voting): 

 

 Healthwatch Wiltshire 

 Wiltshire & Swindon Users Network (WSUN) 

 South Wiltshire Advocacy Network (SWAN Advocacy) 
 

Page 106

https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Local-Healthwatchhealth-Roles-relationships-and-adding-value.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Local-Healthwatchhealth-Roles-relationships-and-adding-value.pdf


12. HSC previously considered non-elected representation at its 27 September 
2016 meeting and resolved that “in the light of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Committee’s impending review of engagement, it would be 
premature to consider the issue of non-elected representatives on the Health 
Select Committee. Therefore, [the chairman] was not proposing any changes 
to the arrangements”. 

 
Other local authorities 
 

13. VCS organisations representation on health scrutiny committees varies quite 
widely.  

 
14. A table with a breakdown of other authorities is appended, but in summary the 

options are as follows: 
 

 co-opted (non-voting); 

 full speaking rights (but not co-opted); 

 able to speak on relevant items, on request, or after elected members 
have spoken; 

 Only Healthwatch representative invited to speak on relevant items or on 
request; 

 
15. For information, Wiltshire’s Children’s Select Committee has two statutory co-

opted members (with voting rights) as well as non-statutory non-voting co-
opted members, as follows: 

 

 Secondary Schools Head Teacher Representative 

 Primary Schools Head Teacher Representative 

 School Teacher Representative 

 Further Education Representative 

 Children & Young People's Representative (and substitute) 

 Primary Parent Governor Representative (vacancy) 

 Secondary Parent Governor Representative (vacancy) 

 Special School Parent Governor Representative (vacancy) 
 
Main Considerations 
 

16. In light of the desk-top review of other authorities with regards to the 
appointment of VCS to health scrutiny committees (Appendix 1), it would 
appear that Wiltshire’s Health Select Committee has adopted a precursor 
inclusive approach. 

 
17. It should be noted that non-elected representatives have provided significant 

contributions to Overview and Scrutiny at all levels (Committee meetings and 
task groups or rapid scrutiny).  

 
18. However, the awarding of the Service User Engagement contract to the 

Wiltshire Centre for Independent Living and the Healthwatch Wiltshire 
contract to Help and Care does require the committee to consider the 
appointment of Stakeholders. 
 

Page 107



19. The roles of the organisations could be summarised as follows: 
 

WSUN User led organisation, formed by people 
who use health and social services, to 
promote user involvement and support 
people to have a voice. 

SWAN Advocacy Supporting the most disadvantaged and 
marginalised people in our communities, 
helping them to have their voices heard 
and their choices respected by those that 
are making decisions about their future. 

Service User Engagement - from 1 
June 2018 provided by Wiltshire Centre 
for Independent Living (WCIL)  
 
WCIL is an organisation managed by 
disabled people and committed to 
supporting all disabled people to achieve 
choice, control and equal rights. 

Service User Engagement contract 
 
Working with adult care and health 
service users, stakeholders, council 
officers and the CCG to co-produce a 
range of adult care and health services. 
 
That includes supporting many service 
user groups, such as the Learning 
Disability Forum, Autism Forum and 
Learning Disability and Autism 
Partnership Board.  
 
Also running customer representative 
groups for all users of adult care and 
health services. 

Healthwatch Wiltshire - from 1st June 
2018 hosted by Help & Care 
 
Help & Care has been working across 
South-Central England for over 30 years, 
promoting dignity and independence for 
all people, particularly people living with 
a long-term health condition, carers and 
those who are isolated and/or 
housebound. 

Healthwatch Wiltshire contract 
 
Healthwatch Wiltshire is the independent 
consumer champion for health and social 
care in the county, that: 
•Represents the voice of patients, 
customers, carers and the public to 
commissioners, service providers and 
local politicians. 
•Acts as focal point for the community to 
have a voice in the commissioning and 
provision of health and social care. 
•Provides opportunities for local people 
to influence decisions being made about 
their services across the NHS and social 
care. 
 

 
20. The committee may also wish to take this opportunity to consider if there are 

any other VCS organisations that it would wish to engage with on a more 
formal basis, such as Stakeholders, to reflect the range of health services and 
support the VCS provides to local communities and individuals.  

Page 108



Examples would be Age UK, Carer Support Wiltshire, Community Champion 
for Older People / Older People Representative (Area Boards), Wiltshire 
People First (WPF), etc. 

 
21. The committee should take into account the roles of the organisations, their 

membership and focus of work, to ensure that the organisations appointed as 
Stakeholders on the committee are representative of a significant number of 
service users and / or Wiltshire residents. 
 

22. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the HSC and the Cabinet Member for 
Adult Social Care, Public Health and Public Protection have been consulted 
on this report. 

 
Proposal 
 

23. That Health Select Committee: 
 

a. Decides the appointment of non-elected non-voting representatives on 
Health Select Committee as it considers appropriate, with each 
organisation to nominate its representative; 

 
b. Agrees to review the appointment of non-elected representatives on 

Health Select Committee on a yearly basis, at the meeting where the 
election of chairman and vice-chairman takes place, to ensure that the 
organisations remain representative of service users and / or Wiltshire 
residents. 

 

 
Paul Kelly 
Head of Democracy (Designated Scrutiny Officer) 
 
Report author: Marie Gondlach, Senior Scrutiny Officer, 
marie.gondlach@wiltshire.gov.uk  
 
Date of report: 03 July 2018 
 
Background papers 
None 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A - Other Local Authorities – Appointed non-elected representatives on 
Health Select Committee

Page 109

mailto:marie.gondlach@wiltshire.gov.uk


Appendix A 
 
Other Local Authorities – Appointed non-elected representatives on Health Select Committee 
 

CIPFA Comparator Councils Appointed non-elected representatives on Health Select Committee 

Bath and North East Somerset None 
Healthwatch have a regular slot to provide an update at the start of every meeting. 

Bedford Borough Council At its June 2018 meeting – considered inviting a representative of Healthwatch Bedford 
Borough to act an observer “plus” (able to ask questions and participate in discussion 
but not to vote) 

Central Bedfordshire Council None 

Cheshire East Council None 

Cheshire West and Chester Council None 

East Riding of Yorkshire Council None 

Herefordshire Council One representative (emailed council but no further details provided to date) 

North Somerset Council None 

Shropshire Council  None 

Solihull Borough Council None 

Stockport Borough Council None 

Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council  None 

Warrington Borough Council None 

City of York Council None 

Neighbouring council /  
other unitary authorities 

Appointed non-elected representatives on Health Select Committee 

Cornwall Council None 

Durham County Council 2 non-voting co-optees to provide a “community voice” (do not represent an 
organisation) + 1 Healthwatch representative (non-voting) 

Hampshire County Council Co-opted members from district and borough councils 

Somerset County Council None 

South Gloucestershire Council None 

Bristol City Council 2 co-optees, NB committee includes education 

Authorities with known non-elected Appointed non-elected representatives on Health Select Committee 

P
age 110



attendance at committee 

Essex County Council Healthwatch attend meetings and have speaking rights. 
The Holland-on-Sea Residents Association also has a representative. 
 

Gloucestershire County Council Healthwatch attend meetings and speak on relevant items.  
 

Hertfordshire County Council Healthwatch attend meetings and have speaking rights. 
 

Isle of Wight Council Healthwatch as co-opted member (non-voting) 

Kent County Council Healthwatch is invited as a guest and is non-voting. 
 

Leicestershire County Council 
 

Healthwatch attend most meetings. 
 

Northamptonshire County Council 
 

4 co-opted members (non-voting),  

 2 representatives from Healthwatch Northamptonshire 

 1 representative from Carers’ Voice 

 1 representative from the Voluntary & Community Sector 

South Gloucestershire Council Healthwatch have speaking rights. 
 

Surrey County Council Healthwatch and the Surrey Coalition of Disabled People may speak after Members. 
 
 

 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council 
 
Health Select Committee 
 
11 July 2018 
 

 
Task Group Update 

 
Purpose 
 
To provide an update on recent task group activity and propose any decisions 
requiring Committee approval.  
 
1. Child and Adolescent Mental Health (CAMHS) Task Group 

 
Membership: 
 
Cllr Phil Alford (Chairman) 
Cllr Clare Cape 
Cllr Gordon King 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland 
 
Supporting Officer: Natalie Heritage 
 
Terms of Reference: 

 
That the CAMHS Task Group: 
a) Consider the governance arrangements for the recommissioned CAHMS 

service; 
b) Explore and understand the new CAHMS model in comparison to the 

existing model and consider the evidence base for any changes. Then where 
appropriate, make recommendations to support its implementation and 
effectiveness;  

c) Look at existing data and ensure that the new model’s performance will be 
robustly monitored and benchmarked against this by the council, partners 
and by the proposed future scrutiny exercise; 

d) Consider access and referral points within the new CAHMS model and, as 
appropriate, make recommendations to maximise take-up by children and 
young people in need of support; 

e) Explore where CAMHS sits within the overall landscape of children and 
young people’s mental health and, within this, consider whether prevention 
services are effective 

 
Recent Activity 
 
The task group has had several meetings since its last update to Committee. The 
first of these meetings was on 16 May 2018, where the task group received 
evidence in the form of a presentation from James Fortune, Lead Commissioner 
and Michelle Maguire, Oxford Health on the re-commissioned CAMHS model. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 17



Discussion centred on improving the provision for 0-5 year olds and also 0-5 year 
olds with autism. It was detailed that this is a national issue, however, Health 
Visitors have a key role to play.  
 
The meeting also discussed the national crisis around the shortage of in-patient 
beds and the task group were updated that there is a low rate of admission for 
in-patient beds in Wiltshire, although this responsibility does lie with NHS 
England and not the Wiltshire CCG. 
 
The task group also raised the “one door access” design of the re-commissioned 
CAMHS model and how this functions when there are a host of agencies involved 
within CAMHS. Various sections of the re-commissioned model will become live 
at different times and the first change was implemented on 1 April 2018. 
 
The task group also most recently met on 18 and 19 June, to conduct interviews 
with the WPCC, as well as with teachers and pupils from Hardenhuish School, 
Chippenham and a CAMHS psychotherapist. These interviews provided really 
useful insight into how CAMHS is functioning on the ground. 
 
At present, the key themes emerging from the interviews are: 

 The transition between CAMHS and adult mental health needs to be 
improved 

 The re-commissioned model has the correct aspirations, however, 
communication between agencies and stakeholders needs to be 
improved for the model to reach its full potential 

 CAMHS cannot be easily accessed if an individual does not go through 
the “front door” 

 The Thrive Hubs are a great design and their community intention needs 
to be capitalised on, for example, feeder primaries utilising their secondary 
school’s CAMHS resources, so that CAMHS can be delivered closer to 
the community 
 

The task group have an idea of potential recommendations that they may include 
in their final report and they are going to conduct further interviews to help 
triangulate this evidence.  
 
The task group has also agreed that its Forward Work Programme will need to 
become fluid following knowledge gained from the interviews and the aim for the 
September meeting will be to discuss findings from the interviews with the 
Executive and Commissioners.  

 

 
 
Report author: Natalie Heritage, Senior Scrutiny Officer, T: 01225 718062, E: 
Natalie.Heritage@wiltshire.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 114

mailto:Natalie.Heritage@wiltshire.gov.uk


 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme - Last updated 3 JULY 2018 - Page 1 of 6 

  
 
 

Health Select Committee 
Forward Work Programme 

 
Last updated 3 JULY 2018 

 

Health Select Committee – Current / Active Task Groups 
Task Group Details of Task Group Start Date Final Report Expected 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) 

   

N/A    

 
 
 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 18



 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme - Last updated 3 JULY 2018 - Page 2 of 6 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme Last updated 3 JULY 2018  

Meeting Date Item Details / Purpose of Report  Associate 
Director 

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 

Report Author 
/ Lead Officer 
 

11 Sep 2018  CCG Commissioning 
Intentions 

(TBC)     
CCG 

11 Sep 2018  Wiltshire Health & Care 
(Adult Community Health 
Care Service) - update 
following CQC report 

At its meeting on 9 January 
2018, the Committee resolved 
to receive a further update, 
possibly in July 2018, 
providing further information 
regarding the implementation 
of actions, and the 
development of the trust. The 
trust subsequently requested 
that this be brought to the 
September meeting. 

   
Wiltshire Health 
& Care 

11 Sep 2018  Adult Social Care - update 
on the implementation of 
the transformation 
programme 

Following the presentation to 
the committee prior to the 
meeting on 9 January 2018 it 
was agreed that an update 
would be presented to the 
committee. 

Emma Legg 
(Director of 
Access and 
Reablement, 
Adult Care) 

Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

Catherine 
Dixon, Helen 
Mullinger 
 

11 Sep 2018  Briefing (pre-meeting) - 
Single View 

Presentation on the Single 
View project. 

  Sarah 
Consentino 
Sarah 
Consentino 

11 Sep 2018  Public Health - Annual 
report to Secretary of State 

Likely to be chairman's 
announcement. 
Usually published in 
September. 

Tracy 
Daszkiewicz 
(Director - Public 
Health and 
Protection) 

Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

 
 

P
age 116



 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme - Last updated 3 JULY 2018 - Page 3 of 6 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme Last updated 3 JULY 2018 

Meeting Date Item Details / purpose of report Associate 
Director 

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 

Report Author 
/ Lead Officer 

11 Sep 2018  SWAST Performance in 
Wiltshire - annual report 

Since September 2016, 
SWAST Performance in 
Wiltshire have been presented 
to the Health Select 
Committee in the form of 
annual reports to the 
Committee on the 
performance of the ambulance 
service in Wiltshire. The first 
edition was presented at the 
Health Select Committee on 
27 September 2016. 

   
 

11 Sep 2018  Update on implementation 
of recommendations from 
the Better Care Plan task 
group 

  Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

 
 

11 Sep 2018  Update on Strategic Outline 
Case - consultation results 

Update on the information 
provided at the HSC meeting 
in September 2017. 

   
 

18 Dec 2018  Wiltshire Safeguarding 
Adult Board - update 

To update the committee on 
the outcome of the 
safeguarding adults reviews 
considered at the Health 
Select Committee on 24 April 
2018. 

 Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

 
Mr Richard 
Crampton, 
Chairman of the 
Board 

P
age 117



 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme - Last updated 3 JULY 2018 - Page 4 of 6 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme Last updated 3 JULY 2018 

Meeting Date Item Details / purpose of report Associate 
Director 

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 

Report Author 
/ Lead Officer 

18 Dec 2018  Places of Safety - 
evaluation of service 

Following recommendation at 
the Health Select Committee 
on 6 March 2018 to receive 
the evaluation of the service, 
led by the CCG and involving 
service users, in December 
2018.  
This should include the 
outcome / analysis of the 
feedback that will be collected 
by providers, commissioners 
and Healthwatch to consider 
the impact the temporary 
closure is having on the 
populations of Swindon and 
Wiltshire and individuals using 
the service. 

   
Sarah 
MacLennan, 
CCG 

5 Mar 2019  NO PRE MEETING 
BRIEFING 

Afternoon meeting    
 

5 Mar 2019  Age UK - Home from 
Hospital scheme - one year 
update 

Following resolution at the 
Health Select Committee on 6 
March 2018 to receive a one-
year-on update on the Age UK 
Home from Hospital scheme, 
including performance 
indicators / confirmation that 
the specification and 
performance outcomes are 
being met. 

 Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

Sue Geary 
 

P
age 118



 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme - Last updated 3 JULY 2018 - Page 5 of 6 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme Last updated 3 JULY 2018 

Meeting Date Item Details / purpose of report Associate 
Director 

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 

Report Author 
/ Lead Officer 

5 Mar 2019  Better Care Plan and 
Delayed Transfers of Care - 
post winter update 

An update on the Better Care 
Plan and Delayed Transfers of 
Care after winter 2018, 
including Allocation of better 
care fund. As agreed at the 24 
April 2018 meeting. 

 Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

 
 

5 Mar 2019  Quality Accounts To ask the committee to 
consider how it wishes to 
respond to the draft Quality 
Accounts 

  Marie Gondlach 
 

5 Mar 2019  Sexual Health and Blood 
Borne Virus Strategy 2017-
2020 - update 

Following resolution at the 
Health Select Committee on 6 
March 2018 to receive a one-
year-on update on the 
implementation of the strategy, 
especially progress achieved 
on the Strategic Aims 
(Prevention, Diagnosis and 
Treatment) and the measuring 
of their stated outcomes. The 
committee had recommended 
that the actions in the Strategy 
follow the SMART principles. 

 Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

Steve Maddern 
 

  Wiltshire Safeguarding 
Adult Board - three-year 
strategy 

To receive the Wiltshire 
Safeguarding Adult Board’s 
next three-year strategy in 
2019 

 Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social 
Care, Public 
Health and Public 
Protection 

Emily Kavanagh 
Mr Richard 
Crampton, 
Chairman of the 
Board 

P
age 119



 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme - Last updated 3 JULY 2018 - Page 6 of 6 

Health Select Committee – Forward Work Programme Last updated 3 JULY 2018 

Meeting Date Item Details / purpose of report Associate 
Director 

Responsible 
Cabinet Member 

Report Author 
/ Lead Officer 

  Cancer care strategies - 
update 

(date TBC) 
To receive an update following 
the information provided at the 
HSC meeting in September 
2017. 

   
CCG 

 Re-commissioning of the 
residential rehabilitation 
(drugs and alcohol) 
framework for 2019-2022 

To re-commission the 
providers who will form the 
framework of residential 
rehabilitation for Wiltshire’s 
drug and alcohol support 
service users, who wish to be 
detoxed and rehabilitated from 
their addictions. The contract 
will be 3 years with the option 
of extending this by 2 years. 

Tracy 
Daszkiewicz 
(Director - Public 
Health and 
Protection) 

Cllr Jerry 
Wickham 

Laura Schell, 
Ceri Williams 
 

P
age 120


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	13 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report (Ref 16 015 946)
	LGO  Final report - pdf version (004), 03/07/2018 Cabinet
	LGO Recommendations tracker, 03/07/2018 Cabinet

	14 CQC review
	16 Non-elected representation on Committee
	17 Task Group and Programme Boards Representatives Updates
	18 Forward Work Programme

